University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

10-5-2017

Exploring the Factors Associated with Non-Urgent Emergency Department Utilization by Individuals with Mental Illness in Southwestern Ontario

Fabrice Immanuel Mowbray *University of Windsor*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Mowbray, Fabrice Immanuel, "Exploring the Factors Associated with Non-Urgent Emergency Department Utilization by Individuals with Mental Illness in Southwestern Ontario" (2017). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 7282. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/7282

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

EXPLORING THE FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH NON-URGENT EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT UTILIZATION BY INDIVIDUALS WITH MENTAL ILLNESS IN SOUTHWESTERN ONTARIO

By

Fabrice Immanuel Mowbray

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through the Faculty of Nursing in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Nursing at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2017

© 2017 Fabrice Immanuel Mowbray

Exploring the Factors Associated with Non-Urgent Emergency Department Utilization by Individuals with Mental Illness in Southwestern Ontario

by

Fabrice Immanuel Mowbray

APPROVED BY:

F. Schlosser Odette School of Business

> K. Pfaff Faculty of Nursing

M. El-Masri, Advisor Faculty of Nursing

September 12, 2017

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis and that no part of this thesis has been published or submitted for publication.

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

There has been an increase in Emergency Department (ED) visits for mental health care across North America. Those with mental illness are at an increased risk for frequent ED visitation, often visiting for non-urgent reasons. While a plethora of literature exists examining frequent ED use for mental health care, there is little known about those who use the ED for non-urgent psychiatric complaints. The purpose of this secondary data analysis was to explore the independent predictors of non-urgent ED use for mental health care. A total of 13,114 observations were examined using logistic regression with generalized estimating equations modeling. The findings suggest the following characteristics are predictive of non-urgent ED use for mental health care: age, season, time of day, access to primary health care, mode of arrival, hospital type, patient diagnosis and referral source. Unadjusted analyses also suggest that the wait time, the main provider in the ED, residential status, and the disposition status are associated with non-urgent ED use for mental health care. Future research should aim to incorporate a prospective study design and a qualitative methodology to gain an understanding of the contextual factors that influence those using the ED for nonurgent mental health care.

iv

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my father William Mowbray. From a young age you encouraged both a questioning nature and critical thinking, and for that I will always be indebted to you. You have always led by example, showing a constant determination for both personal growth and scientific inquiry. I am grateful to have your guidance as not only my father, but as my lifelong friend.

I would also like to dedicate this thesis to my loving and supportive wife Brittany Mowbray. Your constant encouragement and patience throughout the two years has allowed me to achieve this academic goal. You helped keep me grounded and focused, and I am grateful that we were able to grow together throughout this process.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge my thesis committee. I would like to thank Dr. Maher El-Masri for acting as both my principal advisor and my mentor. Your mentorship began long before my pursuit of a graduate degree, and your lessons have extended far beyond that of a typical academic education. You have taught me the importance of academic rigour and have helped me develop a critical lens when appraising research and interpreting statistics. It is your passion for both research and teaching that has pushed me to pursue education at the doctoral level. I thank you for not only your patience and guidance during this study, but for sparking in me a passion for research.

I am also grateful to my internal reviewer Dr. Kathryn Pfaff. You helped teach me how to write in an academic manner, and taught me the importance of utilizing theory to help guide not only my research, but also my nursing practice. You always encourage me to step outside of my comfort zone, and without your support, I would not have been able to succeed in this academic goal.

I would also like to acknowledge my external reviewer Dr. Francine Schlosser. Your etic perspective helped me to think in an interdisciplinary manner, and helped me discover the generalizability of my study. I am thankful for your meticulous review.

Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Abeer Omar. We have worked closely together for many years, and I am grateful for your patience and assistance with the statistical analysis for this study.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
DEDICATION	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF APPENDICES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/SYMBOLS	xiii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Background and Significance of the Problem	5
Time	7
Environment	8
Competence	8
Problem Statement	9
Significance of the Study	10
Purpose of the Study	11
Research Questions	11
Theoretical Framework	11
Key Concepts	13
Modified Model	15
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	17
Search Strategy	18
Potential Predictors of Non-Urgent ED Utilization for Mental Health Care	19
Potential Predictors of Frequent ED Utilization for Mental Health Care	20
Predisposing Factors	20
Enabling Resources	24
Need Factors	26

Summary of the Literature	31
Limitations of the Current Body of Literature	
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	
Research Design	
Sample and Setting	
Sample Size	37
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	37
Variable Definitions	
Predisposing Factors	38
Enabling Resources	38
Need Factors	39
Dependent Variable	40
Protection of Human Subjects	40
Data Analysis	41
Research Question 1	41
Research Question 2	42
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	43
Data Screening and Preparation	43
Research Question Results	44
Research Question 1	44
Sample Characteristics	44
Visit Characteristics	45
Research Question 2	49
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	52
Predisposing Factors Associated with Non-Urgent ED Use for Mental Health Care	52
Enabling Resources Associated with Non-Urgent ED Use for Mental Health Care	54
Need Factors Associated with Non-Urgent ED Use for Mental Health Care	55
Implications and Recommendations for Nursing	58
Education and Practice	58

Policy Development	60
Theory and Research	
Limitations	63
Conclusion	64
REFERENCES	66
APPENDICES	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
VITA AUCTORIS	85

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Summary of Factors Examined Throughout the Literature	32
Table 2: Comparison of Sample Characteristics (Urgent vs. Non-Urgent)	47
Table 3: Comparison of Visit Characteristics (Urgent vs. Non-Urgent)	48
Table 4: Logistic Regression using Generalized Estimating Equations	50

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The Final Adaptation of the Behavioural Model of Health Service Use by Andersen (1995)	13
Figure 2: Modified Model of the Population Characteristics from Andersen's (1995) Behavioural Model of Health Service Use	16

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: The Canadian Triage Acuity Scale	82
Appendix B: The Canadian Mental Health Association's Community Resource	
List for Windsor-Essex County - 2017	83

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/SYMBOLS

- BMHSU: Behavioural Model of Health Service Use
- CAEP: Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians
- CI: Confidence Interval
- CGI: Clinical Global Impression Scale
- CIHR: Canadian Institute of Health Research
- CMHA: Canadian Mental Health Association
- CTAS: Canadian Triage Acuity Scale
- CTRS: Crisis Triage Rating Scale
- DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
- ED: Emergency Department
- **GEE:** Generalized Estimating Equations
- HR: Hazard Ratio
- ICD: International Classification of Disease
- LHIN: Local Health Integration Network
- MHCC: Mental Health Commission of Canada
- OR: Odds Ratio
- PCP: Primary Care Provider
- RCP: Royal College of Physicians
- **RR:** Relative Risk
- SAD: Seasonal Affective Disorder
- SD = Standard Deviation
- SE: Standard Error
- SPSS: Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
- WHO: World Health Organization

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Mental illness is an encompassing term used to refer to a wide range of behaviours, thoughts, and emotions that impact one's life in a negative manner; resulting in strain or grief (Mental Health Commission of Canada [MHCC], 2013). Mental illness is a term that covers a wide variety of diagnoses that are as individualistic and diverse as the people who experience them. This is largely due to the fact that the nature, duration, and intensity of symptoms are unique for each person (Canadian Mental Health Association [CMHA], 2016a; MHCC, 2013). Though one's personal experience and culture impact their comprehension and management of mental illness, it is a disability that has the capacity to affect each and every person, regardless of demographic, social, or economic status (CMHA, 2016a; CMHA, 2010).

Mental illness has no single known cause; however, the majority of psychiatric diagnoses can be effectively treated and managed. While the treatment of mental illness does not involve a cure, it helps one achieve a state of remission from some if not all symptoms (MHCC, 2013; World Health Organization [WHO], 2016a). In Canada treatment is made readily available through a variety of community-based resources. Unfortunately, patients are often unaware of these resources, resulting in the use of easily accessible health care services, most frequently the Emergency Department (ED) (Lahey, 2009). This knowledge deficit concerning outpatient resources for mental health care should raise alarm, as the ED is not equipped to manage and follow-up with chronic disease; mental illness is one of the most prevalent chronic illnesses in Canada (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2015).

According to the WHO (2016b), mental illness is the leading cause for disability worldwide, with one in four people suffering from poor mental health. In Canada, one in five Canadians suffers from mental illness (CMHA, 2016b; MHCC, 2013). Despite the high prevalence of mental illness, it is believed that the number of reported cases is an under representation of the true prevalence in Canada. This is not surprising in light of the fact that many of those who suffer from poor mental health choose to avoid treatment due to the potential discrimination and stigma that has been associated with a psychiatric diagnosis (CMHA, 2016b). The high prevalence of mental illness in Canada is concerning to many, due to the more startling statistic which suggests a rapid growth in the number of new cases. It is projected that the incidence rate of those with mental illness is increasing 5% faster than the Canadian population growth rate, and that this trend is anticipated to continue to rise as time progresses (MHCC, 2013).

Unfortunately, the prevalence of mental illness in Ontario and its many municipalities are not readily available. However, numerous indirect indicators of mental health in Ontario may be used to gauge the scope of mental illness in the province. Ontario has fewer inpatient admissions and acute-care days of stay for mental illness when compared against the rest of the nation (Statistics Canada, 2013a). Furthermore, according to Statistics Canada (2013b) the Erie-St. Clair Local Health Integration Network (LHIN) has similar hospitalization rates when compared to the rest of the province. Interestingly however, the number of hospitalization days for psychiatric care in the Erie St. Clair LHIN is higher than the provincial number of hospitalized days (668 versus 547 per 10,000 citizens, respectively). Similar results were found for Windsor-Essex with 646 acute-care days of stay per 10,000 citizens (Statistics Canada, 2013c). In

addition, those with mental illness are more likely to use the ED for health care when compared against the general population; this is especially true for those seeking mental health care in Windsor-Essex for a non-urgent reason (El-Masri et al., 2014).

The literature suggests that those who suffer from mental illness have both higher mortality and morbidity rates when compared against the general population (Royal College of Psychiatrist [RCP], 2010; WHO, 2013). The extent of years lost can be quite extensive for some; this is especially true for those who suffer from severe mental illness as they typically have a 10 to 25 year reduction in their life expectancy (WHO, 2013). Interestingly, the majority of premature deaths in those with a psychiatric diagnosis are precipitated by physical diseases (RCP, 2010; WHO, 2013).

Recent literature has found that those who suffer from both mental illness and a comorbid physical disease tend to have worse physical outcomes than those who suffer from physical diseases alone (RCP, 2010). An example of this phenomenon was demonstrated in a study by Lustman et al. (2000) who found that those who suffer from both diabetes and mental illness concurrently have poor glycemic control when compared against diabetics with good mental well-being. Similarly, those with mental illness and a comorbid cardiovascular disease are found to be at an increased risk for having a heart attack or stroke (Mykletun, Bjerkeset, & Dewey, 2007; RCP, 2010). In addition to worse physical morbidity, individuals with mental illness are more likely to have healthy lifestyle barriers such as: smoking, poor dietary habits, and sedentary pastimes (Latoo, Mistry, & Dunne, 2013). While those with mental illness are at an increased risk for poor physical health, the majority of barriers reported are modifiable, emphasizing the

importance of early intervention, education, and health promotion to prevent poor habits from developing.

Though the literature suggests that suffering from mental illness has a negative impact on one's health and wellbeing, the problem extends much further than that of the individual. The high prevalence of mental illness in Canada has put a significant burden on the Canadian economy costing the nation over fifty billion dollars every year (CMHA, 2010; MHCC, 2013). The chronic nature of mental illness is proposed as one of the reasons for the economic strain. Chronic diseases involve a complex cascade of elements that negatively impacting health and are rarely cured due to their cyclical nature that involves periods of symptom remission and exacerbation (Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, 2007). It is the recurring pattern of mental illness that leads to frequent care, monitoring, and health service utilization costing the Canadian government tremendously (Patra et al., 2007). Unfortunately, in addition to the consistent care that chronic diseases require is the fact that they rarely tend to exist in isolation (Maj, 2005). This is especially true for mental illnesses with more new cases of psychiatric comorbidities surfacing now than ever (Maj, 2005).

Both the rapidly growing incidence rate of mental illness and the escalation in patient complexity has led to an increase in the number of cases being seen in Canadian EDs (Canadian Institute for Health Information [CIHR], 2016; Salinsky & Loftis, 2007; Vandyk, Harrison, VanDenKerkhof, Graham, & Ross-White, 2013). The ED is often the first source of interaction many have with their local health care system, and at times is the only known means of treatment by those suffering from mental illness (Emergency Nurses Association, 2011). This increase in patient flow across Canada's EDs, and more

specifically Ontario's EDs, intensifies the strain and burden of an already overwhelmed department (Drummond, 2002; Rowe et al., 2006). The purpose of an ED is to treat the critically ill and to prevent unstable patients from experiencing cardiopulmonary decompensation or death (Ferreria et al., 2008). Overcrowding, in addition to the critical nature of the ED, results in a rushed manner of care that is not conducive to treating those suffering from mental illness (Clark, Dusome, & Hughes, 2007). Those who choose to utilize the ED for mental illness often receive inadequate care, resulting in repeat visits and worsening mental health (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Lahey, 2009; Ledoux & Minner, 2006). It is the cyclical nature of visits in the ED that has been found to increase the burden on the health care system, the economy, and most importantly, the patient.

Background and Significance of Problem

There has been an increase in the congestion and overcrowding in EDs across Canada, and with this excess of patients in the ED comes the consequence of substandard care (Rowe et al., 2006). A systematic review conducted by Carter, Pouch, and Larson (2014) has revealed that one of the many ramifications of overcrowding in the ED is an increase in both patient mortality and morbidity. It is proposed that this excess of patient flow causes burnout among ED staff, increasing the risk for medical errors (Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians [CAEP], 2000). Another explanation for poor patient outcomes is the delay in treatment that is associated with overcrowding, increasing the wait time for the care patients need (CAEP, 2000). In addition to the poor patient outcomes, a significant number of ED visitors leave the ED prior to treatment due to fatigue or frustration (Carter et al., 2014). Interestingly, a study by Johnson et al. (2005) found that roughly 6% of those who choose to visit an ED in Ontario leave without being seen by a clinician. Understanding the causes of ED overcrowding can aid in identifying effective interventions to decrease the congestion found across the nation. A systematic review conducted by Hoot and Aronsky (2008) reported that both the presence of repeat visitors, and the utilization of the ED for non-urgent reasons, were two key modifiable factors among several that increase the risk for overcrowding in the ED.

With repeat visitation being a significant factor contributing to overcrowding in the ED, the examination of those with mental illness is of tremendous importance, as numerous studies have found that those who suffer from mental illness are at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Buhumaid et al., 2015; Ledoux & Minner, 2006). Similarly, a study by Walsh, Currier, Shah, and Friedman (2015) determined that those who perceive themselves as having good mental health are less likely to utilize the ED in a frequent manner (OR = 0.55; 95% CI = 0.33 - 0.94). Not only does the presence of a mental illness increase one's risk for frequent ED use, but numerous studies have found a positive correlation between the number of psychiatric diagnoses one has and the number of visits made (Brennan, Chan, Hsia, & Castillo, 2014; Chaput & Lebel, 2007a; Goldstein, Frosh, Davarya, & Leaf, 2007; Hackman et al., 2006; Vandyk, VanDenKerkhof, Graham, & Harrison, 2014). Interestingly, a study by Buhumaid et al. (2015) found that despite not presenting as symptomatic, those with a history of mental illness are also at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (RR =2.19; 95% CI = 2.02 - 2.36). In addition to being at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization, those with mental illness are more likely to present to the ED for a non-urgent reason; this is especially true for Windsor-Essex as those presenting with a psychiatric complaint are roughly 15x more likely to visit for a non-urgent reason when compared to

those visiting for a physical complaint (El-Masri et al., 2014). Unfortunately, little is known about those who chose to use the ED for non-urgent mental health care.

Though the ED is a common place of treatment for those with mental illness, the approach of care provided is not conducive to help with the management of those requiring psychiatric care (Clark et al., 2007). The majority of those with mental illness require a calm, private, and non-stimulating environment to ensure individualized and comprehensive care, as well as to prevent the escalation or exacerbation of symptoms (Austin & Boyd, 2010; Broadbent, Moxam, & Dweyer, 2014). Unfortunately, the confined and hectic nature of the ED often prevents those with mental illness from receiving the specialized care that they need (Broadbent et al., 2014). Despite consistent disappointment with the care provided, many people continue to return to the ED for treatment of mental illness due to a knowledge deficit that exists in Canadian communities regarding community-based psychiatric resources (Lahey, 2009). The education and promotion of these outpatient services is critical, as numerous barriers exist in the ED that hinder the management of mental illness. The following section examines barriers found to inhibit the effective treatment of mental illness in the ED. Time

A lack of time has been found to be a significant barrier to providing comprehensive care in the ED. The critical nature of the ED places constant pressure on staff to treat patients in a prompt manner. Unfortunately, a consequence of this rushed manner of care is that those suffering from mental illness are often shorted the time needed for a tailored recovery (Marynowski-Traczyk & Broadbent, 2011; Plant & White, 2013). Despite the need for in-depth discussion and a detailed history to ensure adequate

assessment, intervention, and follow-up, both patients and staff feel that those with mental illness tend to be rushed through treatment and triage (CMHA, 2016a; Marynowski-Traczyk & Broadbent, 2011). Ironically, while those with mental illness are often rushed through triage and treatment, they tend to have longer wait times before being seen by a clinician adding further to their frustration (Lahey, 2009; Morphet et al., 2012).

Environment

Due to the stigmatization and discrimination associated with mental illness, many prefer to have treatment in a private and secure environment (Austin & Boyd, 2010). Unfortunately, providing privacy is a challenge for ED staff as the area of treatment is often crowded resulting in a lack of space (Broadbent et al., 2014; Plant & White, 2013). In addition to a congested environment is the turbulent noise that follows; this is especially true in the ED triage area where initial preliminary diagnoses are made (Broadbent et al., 2014). The boisterous noise of the ED often prevents many from receiving efficient care, as those suffering from mental illness often require a calm and non-stimulating environment (Austin & Boyd, 2010; Innes, Morphet, O'Brien, & Munro, 2014).

Competence

The management of mental illness often requires specialized staff with a unique skill set to help assist and diagnose those with psychiatric disorders; unfortunately, these expert clinicians are rarely found in the ED. The nurses who staff the ED often feel incompetent in their ability to take care of those with mental illness expressing that they require more education to provide optimal care (Goode et al., 2014; Innes et al., 2014;

Plant & White, 2013). It is hypothesized that it is the lack of expert psychiatric staff that leads to the recurrent nature of visits by those with mental illness, as many patients are discharged from the ED with the same symptoms and dilemmas they were triaged with (Marynowski-Traczyk & Broadbent, 2011). Interestingly, a study by Boyer et al. (2011) found that the more one visited the ED, the less specialized their care became with frequent visitors having roughly four times more diagnostic variability between their visits than infrequent visitors (OR = 3.95; 95% CI = 3.71 - 5.7). In other words, those who visited in a frequent manner were more likely to receive a variety of diagnoses from clinicians in the ED. The education and preparation of staff working with those suffering from mental illness is imperative, as the consequences of mismanaged mental illness can lead to unnecessary repetitive visitation.

Problem Statement

Overcrowding in the ED results in both poor patient outcomes for many who visit, as well as burnout among the ED staff (CAEP, 2000; Carter et al., 2014). Two key factors that have been found to contribute to ED overcrowding is both non-urgent and redundant frequent ED utilization (Hoot & Aronsky, 2008). Those with mental illness are at an increased risk for both frequent and non-urgent use of the ED for mental health care (El-Masri et al., 2014; Vandyk et al., 2013). Unfortunately, the rushed and chaotic nature of the ED prevents those with mental illness from receiving the individualized and comprehensive care needed resulting in recurrent follow-up (Broadbent et al., 2014; Clark et al., 2007). While an abundance of studies have examined the predictors of frequent ED visitation by those with mental illness, only one study by Adeosun et al. (2014) examined non-urgent visitors seeking mental health care. Furthermore, no studies have examined non-urgent ED use by those with mental illness in Canada, depicting a wide gap in the current body of literature.

Significance of the Study

Understanding the characteristics of those who utilize the ED for mental illness is of the utmost importance, as the approach of care provided in the ED is not conducive to the individualistic needs of those who suffer from mental illness (Broadbent et al., 2014; Clark et al., 2007). More specifically, understanding the characteristics of those who utilize the ED for non-urgent mental illness is essential, as unnecessary utilization of the ED has been linked to ED overcrowding, poor patient outcomes, and an increase in patient mortality (Carter et al., 2014; Hoot & Aronsky, 2008). El-Masri et al. (2014) found that of the 13, 114 patients who visited an ED in the Windsor-Essex area for mental illness, 29% were treated for non-urgent complaints. Furthermore, those with mental illness in both the Erie St. Clair LHIN (OR = 16.5; 95% CI = 13.46 - 20.24), and more specifically Windsor-Essex (OR = 15.4; 95% CI = 11.11 - 20.38) are at an increased risk for non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care (El-Masri et al., 2014).

These alarming statistics further validate the need for a comprehensive understanding of non-urgent ED utilization by those with mental illness, and more specifically, in the Windsor-Essex area. Identifying these characteristics allows for clinicians and policy makers to direct future resources toward those in urgent need, and guide non-urgent users away from the ED. These actions can assist in decreasing unnecessary repeat visitation and the subsequent strain on the Canadian health care system and economy (CMHA, 2010). While a plethora of studies have examined the independent predictors of frequent ED utilization by those with mental illness, this

secondary data analysis will be the first Canadian study to examine the predictors of nonurgent ED utilization by those with mental illness.

Purpose of the Study

Taking into consideration the previously identified gaps in the literature, the primary objective of this study was to explore ED utilization by patients suffering from mental illness in a Southwestern Ontario medium sized city. The specific purposes of this secondary data analysis were to: (a) explore the independent predictors of ED utilization for non-urgent mental illness, and (b) to compare and contrast the diagnostic, demographic, and visitation characteristics between individuals who utilize the ED for urgent versus non-urgent mental health care.

Research Questions

This study will provide answers to the following research questions:

- 1. What are the characteristics of the individuals and visits made by those who choose to utilize the ED for mental health care?
- 2. What are the independent predictors of non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care?

Theoretical Framework

There are distinctive characteristics of both individuals and communities that impact one's decision on both the necessity and type of health service utilized. Understanding these characteristics is the focus of the Behavioural Model of Health Service Use (BMHSU) which was developed by Ronald Andersen in 1968 (Babitsch, Gohl, & von Lengerke, 2012). Andersen's model was analyzed, described, and utilized to guide the methodology of this study examining non-urgent ED utilization by those with mental illness. The BMHSU has been subjected to numerous revisions and adaptations since its development several decades ago; a process that resulted in a multilevel and encompassing model (Andersen, 1995). The model has been utilized and validated in the literature by an abundance of health service utilization studies, providing theoretical guidance and consistency for both quantitative and qualitative methodologies examining non-urgent ED use (Beache & Guell, 2016; Uscher-Pines, Pines, Kellermann, Gillen, & Mehrotra, 2013).

The model was developed in the late 1960's with the intent to discover characteristics and conditions that either facilitate or hinder health service utilization (Andersen, 1995; Andersen & Newmen, 2005). When the model was initially developed, the focus was on the family unit (Andersen, 1995; Babitsch et al., 2012). Difficulty developing policies and measures for the family unit led to a shift in focus toward the individual as the subject of interest (Andersen, 1995). In the late 1990s, the final adaptation was completed, producing a cyclical and comprehensive model (Figure 1). The model provides well-defined and concise descriptions of the concepts, displaying semantic clarity. The current version of the model is made up of four main concepts: environment, population characteristics, health behaviour, and outcomes. Furthermore, Andersen depicts a clear image of how the concepts are related and the nature of their relationships through a descriptive text and his detailed model.





Figure 1. The final adaptation of the Behavioural Model of Health Care Use by Andersen (1995).

Key Concepts

Environment. The environment, according to Andersen (1995) is composed of the external environment and the health care system. Andersen (1995) proposes that the external environment takes into consideration numerous aspects such as: the physical environment, political policies, and economic components of an individual's surroundings. Furthermore, he argues that the external environment impacts aspects of diet, exercise and the self-care of an individual. The second component of the environment is the health care system, which encompasses the national health policies, the resources an organization has to offer, as well as the purpose, type, and location of the organization (Andersen, 1995).

Population Characteristics. The model divides the population characteristics into three main components: predisposing factors, enabling resources, and need factors. Predisposing factors are the individual characteristics that increase the likelihood that one will utilize health services (Andersen & Newman, 2005). Enabling resources

encompasses both the resources provided from the individual and resources found to be available in the community that facilitate health care utilization. Although some individuals are predisposed to health service utilization, the appropriate resources must be available to ensure interaction with a health care provider (Andersen, 1995; Andersen & Newman, 2005). Andersen (1995) also emphasizes the importance of both the type of facilities and availability of health care providers in the area as community-based enabling factors. The final component to the triad is the need for service, whether that be the perceived need of the individual, or the evaluated need of the health care provider. The perceived illness of an individual is viewed as the subjective measurement of how ill an individual feels, whereas the evaluated need is the objective measurement of the clinician such as physicals, laboratory results, and vital signs (Newman & Andersen, 2005).

Health Behaviour. According to Andersen (1995) health behaviour is divided into two components: personal health practice, and the use of health service. Personal health practices are the choices an individual makes regarding their health such as their diet, exercise, and the self-care practices. The second component is the actual use of health services, which Andersen (1995) believes is indirectly influenced by one's external environment. The use of health services analyzes the utilization of service type, site, purpose, and time interval between service utilization, whereas the external environment analyzes the existence and location of these services.

Outcomes. Outcomes of the BMHSU model is composed of three sub-concepts that all influence health service utilization in a synchronous manner: the perceived health status of the patient, the evaluated health status of the health care professional, and

finally, the satisfaction of the patient regarding the care they received. Andersen (1995) believes that when the perceived and evaluated health status of the patient is good, and the satisfaction of the individual is acceptable, there is a decreased chance of future service utilization. Furthermore, Andersen (1995) proposes that patient satisfaction is a product of the convenience and availability of care, the financial status of the patient, the provider's personal characteristics, and the quality of the care provided.

Modified Model

In this study, the BMHSU model (Andersen, 1995) was modified to allow for appropriate description and guidance of the study's purposes and protocol (Figure 2). Specifically, due to the nature of a secondary data analysis, population characteristics was the only major concept applicable to the study. This is because the database used in the study did not include information pertaining to the other three components of the BHMSU model. Thus, the adapted model depicts the components of the population characteristics and illustrates the relationships of interest between the variables available in the initial dataset and anticipated future ED utilization by those with mental illness. Specifically, the predisposing, enabling, and need factors portrayed below were examined to gain an understanding of predictors of non-urgent ED utilization by those with mental illness in a medium-sized Southwestern Ontario city. A fourth category was created labeled *non-predictive factors* to show the relationship between non-urgent ED use for mental health care and factors that transpire after a CTAS score is provided, therefore excluding them from being predictive in nature.



Figure 2. Modified model of the population characteristics from Andersen's (1995) Behavioural Model of Health Service Use.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The high prevalence of mental illness in Canada has led to a strain on both the national economy and health care system (CMHA, 2015; MHCC, 2013b). EDs across Canada are the first line of health care for many, and are experiencing difficulty providing timely and professional care due to overcrowding (Pouch & Larson, 2014; Rowe et al., 2006; Vandyk et al., 2014). A large proportion of the cases being seen in Ontario's EDs are related to mental illness (El-Masri et al., 2014). Furthermore, individuals with poor mental health are at an increased risk for both frequent and nonurgent visitation, consuming an immense amount of resources from emergency services (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Buhumaid, Riley, Sattarian, Bregman, & Blanchard, 2015; El-Masri et al., 2014; Ledoux & Minner, 2006). Fortunately, a plethora of studies have discovered common characteristics among those with mental illness that are predictive of their ED utilization (Vandyk et al., 2013). The objective of this chapter is to highlight these characteristics to provide a thorough understanding of this phenomenon. A secondary objective of this chapter is to identify the gaps and limitations in the current body of literature to help guide the methodology of this study.

While an abundance of studies have examined the characteristics of those who utilize the ED for mental illness, the literature is heavily weighted on the frequency (n =27) of ED utilization rather than urgency (n = 1). A frequent ED user for mental health care was commonly defined throughout the literature as a patient who utilized the ED more than once a year (Boyer et al., 2011), while a non-urgent ED user for mental health care has been commonly defined as a patient who utilizes the ED for non-essential care

that could be treated in a primary care setting (El-Masri et al., 2014; Usher-Pines et al., 2013). According to Hoot and Aronsky (2008), both frequent and non-urgent ED have been determined to be two key contributing factors to ED overcrowding. Both forms of unnecessary ED utilization have been found to increase poor patient outcomes, health care spending, stress on staff, and wait times (Durand et al., 2012; New England Health Care Institute, 2010; Uscher-Pines et al., 2013). Due to the scarce amount of data focusing on non-urgent ED utilization for mental health concerns, the predictors of frequency will also be reported, as the consequences for both visitors are analogous (Hoot & Aronsky, 2008). As a result, frequent ED use for mental illness was utilized as a surrogate marker to help guide this study in the exploration for non-urgent predictors.

Andersen's (1995) BMHSU was utilized to guide and organize this literature review. The predictors found in the literature have been divided into three main sections based on the framework: predisposing factors, enabling resources, and need factors. Though a multitude of predictors have been reviewed in this chapter, not all were eligible for utilization in this secondary data analysis, as the variables in the database were predetermined by the data collected by the Erie St. Clair LHIN. Despite this limitation, all variables found to significantly predict either frequent or non-urgent ED utilization by those with mental illness are reported.

Search Strategy

A number of common electronic databases were reviewed and explored to ensure the most encompassing literature review achievable. The following databases were reviewed: Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), Proquest Nursing and Health Alliance, PubMed, and the Cochrane Database of

Systematic Reviews. The following inclusion criteria were applied to the search: articles published in 2005 and beyond, English language, peer-reviewed, and articles that reviewed the predictors, factors, characteristics, or patterns of ED utilization by those with mental illness. The search terms utilized throughout the review of the literature were used in a variety of combinations and consisted of: mental, health, illness, psych, emergency, room, department, predictor, character, factor, visits, urgent, frequent, use, and utilization. In addition to the initial search, the process of ancestry was utilized to ensure no seminal articles were overlooked during the review of the literature. Though an abundance of studies were appraised, only twenty-eight articles met the inclusion criteria and were reviewed for the purpose of this study.

Of the twenty-eight studies reviewed, only one systematic review conducted by Vandyk et al. (2013) was discovered and analyzed. The purpose of this systematic review was to compare and describe the current research available on those who frequently utilize the ED for mental illness. The predominance of articles reviewed were retrospective in nature, with either a retrospective chart review or a secondary data analysis as the methodological design. Four studies incorporated a prospective component with semi-structured interviews in addition to chart reviews (Adegbohun, 2014; Bruffaerts et al., 2006; Mehl – Madrona, 2008; Young et al., 2005).

Potential Predictors of Non-Urgent ED Utilization for Mental Health Care

A cross-sectional survey study by Adeosun et al. (2014) was the only study found to examine the characteristics of those who utilize the ED for non-urgent mental health care. The study took place at a single-site federal psychiatric hospital in Lagos, Nigeria. The study utilized two psychiatric triage scales to assess the urgency of the visit: The

Crisis Triage Rating Scale (CTRS) and the Clinical Global Impression Scale (CGI). Both arriving to the ED with mechanical restraints and employment status were predisposing factors found to be predictive of non-urgent ED use. Those arriving to the department with mechanical restraints were more likely to present for an urgent issue (OR = 11.2; 95% CI = 5.01 – 7.86), whereas those who were employed at the time of triage were less likely to use the ED for urgent reasons (OR = .62; 95% CI = .39 - .69). No enabling resources were found to be predictive of non-urgent ED utilization. The following need factors were found to be predictive of non-urgent ED utilization: suicidal ideation, substance use, the need for medication refills, and defaulting. Both those with a diagnosis of suicidal ideation (OR = 5.42; 95% CI = 1.86 - 3.52) and substance abuse (OR = 3.16; 95% CI = 1.74 - 2.94) were more likely to present for an urgent reason, whereas those who had a need for medication refill were less likely to present for an urgent reason (OR = .06; 95% CI = .07 - .09). Defaulting was defined as any person who had dropped out of outpatient services, and was found to increase the risk of a patient presenting to the ED for an urgent visit (OR = 2.59; 95% CI = 1.64 - 3.96). The following variables were found to have no association with non-urgent ED utilization for mental illness: gender, marital status, arrival by police/ambulance, and previous number of visits.

Potential Predictors of Frequent ED Utilization for Mental Health Care Predisposing Factors

Age. A plethora of studies examined the relationship between age and frequent ED utilization by individuals seeking mental health care; the conclusions reported in the following text both indecisive and contradictory. The majority of articles reviewed found an association; however, the age of risk was diverse throughout the studies. An inverse relationship was determined by the majority of studies focusing on the adult population, with those of a younger age having an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (Bruffaerts et al., 2006; Brunero et al., 2007; Hackman et al., 2006; Ledoux & Minner, 2006). To the contrary, a retrospective chart review by Baillargeon et al. (2008) found a positive relationship between age and ED utilization with those over the age of fifty being the cohort most at risk for frequent ED visitation (OR = 1.4; 95% CI = 1.2 - 1.6). Furthermore, a retrospective chart review conducted by Brennan, Chan, Hsai, and Castillo (2014) determined that individuals between the ages of 25 - 44 are at the most risk (OR = 1.53; 95% CI = 1.33 - 1.77) with similar results determined by Smith, Stock, and Santora (2015). Interestingly, all studies focusing on individuals under the age of eighteen determined that those in their teenage years are at the most risk for frequent ED utilization (Newton et al., 2012; Newton et al., 2010; Pittsenbarger & Mannix, 2014). Despite the abundance of studies that found an association between age and frequent ED utilization, a significant number of studies found no association (Boyer et al., 2011; Buhumaid et al., 2015; Goldstein, Frosch, Davarya, & Leaf, 2007; Pasic, Russo, & Roy-Byrne, 2005; Vandyk et al., 2014; Walsh, Currier, Shah, & Friedman, 2005; Young et al., 2005).

Gender. An abundance of studies reviewed the relationship between gender and frequent ED utilization by those suffering from mental illness. The vast majority of studies found a significant association, though the gender at risk varied throughout the literature. In addition to a systematic review conducted by Vandyk et al. (2013), a significant number of studies determined that males are at an increased risk for frequent

ED visitation (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Brennan et al., 2014; Ledoux & Minner, 2006; Mehl-Madrona, 2008; Park et al., 2009; Pasic et al., 2005; Vandyk et al., 2014; Young et al., 2005). Interestingly, a study by Young et al. (2005) found that males are also at an increased risk for having higher costs associated with their visits.

To the contrary of the majority consensus, Walsh et al. (2015) found that females are more likely to have repeat ED utilization (OR = 1.56; 95% CI = 1.04 - 2.36). Similar results were concluded by two pediatric studies with Newton et al. (2010) determining boys are less likely to return to the ED (OR = .78; 99% CI = 0.68 - 0.89), and in a followup study, Newton et al. (2012) found this to be especially true after a time of crisis (OR =.72; 95% CI = .61 - .86). Though the majority of studies found that a relationship exists between gender and frequent ED utilization, a significant number of studies found no association (Beck et al., 2015; Boyer et al., 2011; Bruffaerts et al., 2006; Brunero et al., 2007; Buhumaid et al., 2015; Chaput & Lebel, 2007a; Goldstein et al., 2007; Pittsenbarger & Mannix, 2014).

Race. The race of an individual was found to be associated with the frequency of ED utilization among those suffering from mental illness in all studies that examined the relationship. The majority of studies determined that those who are non-Hispanic white are at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Brennan et al., 2014; Claassen, Emond, Pelletier, & Camargo, 2005; Pittsenbarger & Mannix, 2014; Smith et al., 2015). To the contrary, a retrospective chart review conducted by Buhumaid et al. (2015) concluded that those who are of the black racial category are at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (RR = 1.19; 95% CI = 1.01 - 1.17), with similar results found by Goldstein et al. (2007).
Employment Status. One's employment status has been found to have an association with the frequency of ED utilization by those with mental illness. In addition to a systematic review by Vandyk et al. (2013), the majority of studies determined that being unemployed increases one's risk for frequent ED visitation (Bruffaerts et al., 2006; Chaput & Lebel, 2007a; Pasic et al., 2005, Vandyk et al., 2014). Additionally, Ledoux and Minner (2006) found that those on sick leave are also at an increased risk (OR = 1.66; 95% CI = 1.12 - 2.05).

Housing Arrangements. The majority of studies that examined the relationship between an individual's living arrangement and frequent ED utilization by those seeking mental health care found an association. In addition to a systematic review by Vandyk et al. (2013), three retrospective chart reviews determined that those who self-identify as homeless are at an increased risk for frequent ED visitation (Boyer et al., 2011; Pasic et al., 2005; Vandyk et al., 2014). Interestingly, in addition to increased frequency of ED utilization, a case-control study by Park et al. (2009) determined that those who selfidentify as homeless are at an increased risk for having a length of stay greater than 24 hours (OR = 1.98; p = <.01). These increased lengths of stay may explain why homeless individuals produce substantially higher costs for the ED (Young et al., 2005).

Furthermore, a study by Beck et al. (2015) determined that those living alone are at an increased risk for rapid re-attendance (HR = 1.11; 95% CI = 1.02 - 1.21), in addition to frequent ED utilization (HR = 4.01; 95% CI = 1.05 - 1.16). However, a secondary data analysis conducted by Walsh et al. (2015) found that it was a combination of being both a widow and living alone that put one at risk for frequent utilization (OR =1.68; 95% CI = 1.05 - 2.07). To the contrary, Ledoux and Minner (2006) found no

association between living alone and frequent ED utilization, however they were able to determine that those living in a non-psychiatric institution are at an increased risk (OR = 2.13; 95% CI = 1.17 - 3.88).

Relationship Status. An individual's relationship status has been found to have an association with the frequency of ED visits for mental illness. In addition to a systematic review by Vandyk et al. (2013), the majority of studies found that being single increased one's risk for frequent ED utilization (Beck et al., 2015; Boyer et al., 2011; Vandyk et al., 2014; Vandyk et al., 2013; Walsh et al., 2015). Additionally, a retrospective chart review by Beck et al. (2015) found that being single not only increased one's risk of being a frequent visitor (HR = 1.09; 95% CI = 1.04 - 1.13), but also increased their risk of rapid re-attendance (HR = 1.16; 95% CI = 1.08 - 1.25). To the contrary, Young et al. (2005) found no association between relationship status and frequent ED utilization.

Enabling Factors

Social Support. Two studies assessed the relationship between social support and frequent ED utilization with both Pasic et al. (2015) (OR = 1.26; 95% CI = 1.1 -1.44) and Vandyk et al. (2014) determining that those with a lack of or limited social support are at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (OR = 3.5; 95% CI - 1.3 - 9).

Income. Two studies examined the relationship between income and frequent ED utilization by those with for mental illness. Ledoux and Minner (2006) found that those with a lack of income are less likely to be frequent repeaters of the ED (OR = .65; 95% CI = .44 - .95). To the contrary, Young et al. (2005) found no relationship between income and frequent ED utilization.

Social Assistance. Receiving social assistance has been found to increase an individual's risk of frequent ED utilization for mental illness (Chaput & Lebel, 2007a; Newton et al., 2012; Newton et al., 2010). In addition to receiving social assistance, a retrospective chart review by Ledoux and Minner (2006) found that those receiving the highest amount of social assistance are the most likely to return to the ED in a frequent manner (OR = 1.51; 95% CI = 1.12 - 2.05). On the other hand, Vandyk et al. (2014) found no relationship between social assistance and frequent ED utilization.

Insurance Status. The majority of studies that examined the relationship between insurance status and frequent ED utilization for mental illness determined that those with Medicare or Medicaid were at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (Brennan et al., 2014; Buhumaid et al., 2015; Misek, DeBarba, & Brill, 2015; Mehl-Madrona., 2008; Smith et al., 2015). One study by Pittsenbarger and Mannix (2014) took a more holistic look at insurance status and found that those with any source of public insurance were at an increased risk for frequent ED visitation (OR = 1.47; 95% CI = 1.25-1.72). Interestingly, while those with public insurance are at increased risk for frequent ED visitation, it is those who are uninsured that are at the greatest risk for experiencing an extended length of stay (Misek et al., 2015; Park et al., 2009). Unfortunately, all studies examining insurance status were conducted in the United States, decreasing the external validity of the results found.

Geography. An association has been found between the geographical location of housing and the frequency of ED utilization for mental illness. Both studies that assessed the level of urbanization among communities determined that those living in rural areas were less likely to utilize the ED for mental illness than those living in urban cities

(Larkin et al., 2015; Pittsenberger & Mannix, 2015). Additionally, a study by Goldstein et al. (2007) found those who lived in the same city as their local hospital were at increased risk for frequent visitation ($x^2 = 9.6$; df = 1; p = <.01). To the contrary, a retrospective chart review by Newton et al. (2010) found no association between geographical location of housing and frequent ED utilization.

Referral Source. In addition to a systematic review by Vandyk et al. (2013), the majority of studies determined that those who presented to the ED as a self-referral were at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization for mental illness (Bruffaerts et al., 2006; Ledoux & Minner, 2006; Pasic et al., 2005). Likewise, a study by Bruffaerts et al. (2006) found that those referred by their primary care provider (PCP) were more likely to have a single visit in the ED (OR = 1.72; 95% CI = 1.43 - 2.08). Nevertheless, Brunero et al. (2007) found no association between mode of arrival and frequent ED utilization, though the study utilized bivariate analyses producing unadjusted results, calling into question the validity of the findings.

Need Factors

Diagnosis. A plethora of studies examined the relationship between various psychiatric diagnoses and frequent ED utilization. Numerous factors were found to influence one's decision to utilize the ED. A main characteristic found to influence an individual's decision to utilize the ED is the type of psychiatric diagnosis present (Merrick, Perloff, & Tompkids, 2010). In addition to the type of diagnosis, studies have found a positive correlation between the number of psychiatric co-morbidities and the number of visits made to the ED (Chaput & Lebel, 2007a; Hackman et al., 2006). Interestingly, not only does the presence of mental illness increase one's risk for frequent

ED visitation, but a study by Buhumaid et al. (2015) determined that the existence of a previous diagnosis increases one's risk as well (RR = 2.19; 95% CI = 2.02 - 2.36). In light of the fact that an abundance of diagnoses were examined throughout the literature, only the most rigorously studied diagnoses are reported.

Substance Abuse. The majority of studies found that the use of illegal substances increased one's risk for recurrent ED utilization by those suffering from mental illness (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Beck et al., 2015; Boyer et al., 2011; Bruffaerts et al., 2006; Ledoux & Minner, 2006; Merrick et al., 2010; Pasic et al., 2005; Vandyk et al., 2013; Vandyk et al., 2014). Interestingly, a systematic review by Vandyk et al. (2013) found that the correlation persisted whether the diagnosis was a primary or comorbid finding. In addition to frequent ED utilization, a retrospective chart review by Beck et al. (2015) determined that it also increases one's risk of rapid re-attendance (HR = 1.41; 95% CI = 1.23 - 1.61). Furthermore, those who have a diagnosis of substance abuse are at an increased risk of having a length of stay in the ED greater than 24 hours (OR = 1.66; p = .02). Despite the significant number of studies finding a relationship between substance abuse and frequent ED utilization, four studies found no association (Buhumaid et al., 2015; Newton et al., 2010; Nossel et al., 2010; Young et al., 2005).

Alcohol Abuse. A relationship between alcohol abuse and frequent ED utilization for mental illness was found by the majority of studies (Buhumaid et al., 2015; Mehl-Madrona, 2008; Smith et al., 2015; Vandyk et al., 2014). To the contrary, Young et al. (2005) found no association, though the small sample size of the study (n = 173) decreases the external validity of the findings and increases the risk for type-two error.

Schizophrenia. A diagnosis of schizophrenia has been found to increase one's risk for frequent ED utilization (Brennan et al., 2014; Chaput & Lebel, 2007a; Newton et al., 2010; Pasic et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2015). Interestingly, a study by Chaput and Lebel (2007a) found that patients with a psychiatric comorbidity in addition to their diagnosis of schizophrenia were at an increased risk for having eleven or more visits in a year (OR = 5.9; p = <.001). One study found no relationship between a diagnosis of schizophrenia and frequent ED visitation (Buhumaid et al., 2015).

Psychosis. A diagnosis of psychosis has been found to increase one's risk for frequent ED utilization (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Beck et al., 2009; Ledoux & Minner, 2006; Pasic et al., 2005; Vandyk et al., 2014; Walsh et al., 2015). In addition to their systematic review (2013), Vandyk et al. (2014) found that those prescribed anti-psychotic medication are also at an increased risk (OR = 3.2; 95% CI = 1.3 - 7.9).

Mood Disorders. A relationship between the diagnosis of a mood disorder and frequent ED utilization was found in all studies that examined the variables (Beck et al., 2015; Brunero et al., 2014; Newton et al., 2010). Interestingly, in addition to the high number of cases seen in the ED, a study by Larkin et al. (2005) found an increase in the overall prevalence of mood disorders in the United States.

Personality Disorders. In addition to a systematic review by Vandyk et al. (2013), the majority of studies found that those diagnosed with a personality disorder are at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (Beck et al., 2015; Boyer et al., 2011; Vandyk et al., 2014). Similarly, a study by Bruffaerts et al. (2006) determined that those who were one-time users of the ED were less likely to have a personality disorder (OR =

.4; 95% CI = .34 - .48). On the other hand, a study by Smith et al. (2015) determined no relationship exists.

Anxiety. A diagnosis of anxiety has been found to increase one's risk of frequent ED utilization by the majority of studies (Baillargeon et al., 2008; Brunero et al., 2007; Nossel et al., 2010; Walsh et al., 2015). Interestingly, although more likely to come back, a retrospective chart review by Baillargeon et al. (2008) found that those with anxiety were more likely to return for reasons other than mental illness (OR = 8.6; 95% CI = 6.6 – 11). Additionally, a case-control study by Park et al. (2009) found that those with anxiety were less likely to have a length of stay greater than 24 hours (OR = 0.52; p = .02). In contrast to the general consensus, Smith et al. (2015) found no relationship between a diagnosis of anxiety and frequent ED utilization.

Depression. Though a significant number of studies assessed the relationship between a diagnosis of depression and frequent ED utilization, the results varied from study to study. Both Ledoux and Minner (2006), and Pasic et al. (2005) found that depression decreases one's risk for frequent ED visitation. To the contrary, Mehl-Madrona (2008) determined that having a diagnosis of depression increased one's risk for frequent ED utilization ($x^2 = 27.7$; p = < .001), though the use of bivariate analyses increases the risk of a spurious relationship. One last study by Walsh et al. (2015) determined that no association exists between the diagnosis and frequent ED utilization.

Bipolar. While a retrospective chart review by Baillargeon et al. (2008) determined that those diagnosed with a bipolar disorder are at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (OR = 8.1; 95% CI = 5.5 - 12.6), a study by Pasic et al. (2005) found no relationship exists.

Suicidal Ideation. Although a study by Goldstein et al. (2007) determined that the presence of suicidal ideation was found to increase one's risk of frequent ED utilization (OR = 2.04; 95% CI = 1.06 - 3.92), a study by Buhumaid et al. (2015) found no association among the variables. Interestingly, a case-control study by Park et al. (2009) found that the presence of suicidal ideation increased one's risk for having a length of stay in the ED greater than 24 hours (OR = 2.5; 95% CI = 1.48 - 3.98).

Health Care Utilization. Outpatient service utilization has been found to increase one's risk of frequent ED utilization for mental illness (Brufaerts et al., 2006; Goldstein et al., 2007; Nossel et al., 2010). More specifically, a study by Goldstein et al. (2007) determined that those who were in outpatient mental health treatment were at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization (OR = 2.6; 95 CI = 1.29 - 5.35).

In addition to a systematic review by Vandyk et al. (2013), all studies determined that those with a history of admission for inpatient mental health care were at an increased risk for frequent ED utilization for mental illness (Goldstein et al., 2007; Pasic et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2015). Furthermore, a case-control study by Park et al. (2009) determined that a history of inpatient care increased one's risk of an extended length of stay (OR = 1.66; p = .02). Interestingly, Ledoux and Minner (2006) specified that an admission from the ED increases one's risk further (OR = 2.95; 95% CI = 1.58 - 5.51).

Triage Category. Although a retrospective chart review by Newton et al. (2010) concentrating on the pediatric population determined that those visiting for non-urgent mental health care were the least likely to return (OR = .62; 99% CI = .45 - .98), the majority of studies found there was no association between symptom severity and ED

utilization for psychiatric complaints (Brunero et al., 2007; Goldstein et al., 2007; Young et al., 2005).

Summary of the Literature

A review of the literature regarding the patterns of ED utilization by those suffering from mental illness revealed an abundance of studies. While a multitude of predictors have been discovered regarding frequent ED utilization, scarce data has been found concerning non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care. Understanding of the predictors of both phenomena is essential as it gives insight to the causes of ED overcrowding; both factors have been found to increase unnecessary ED utilization. Furthermore, understanding these predictors allows for both clinicians and those in policy development to allocate resources to those in need by guiding non-urgent and frequent users away from the ED. Unfortunately, while a plethora of predictors exist, a great number of inconsistencies and contradictions were discovered throughout the body of literature; this is especially true for studies concentrating on frequency of ED use for mental health care. Despite the discrepancies found, a significant number of factors were determined to be associated with frequent ED utilization by those suffering from mental illness. Only one study was found that examined urgency of ED use by those with mental illness, with a limited number of variables examined as potential predictors. For a comprehensive review of the characteristics associated with both frequent and non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care, please refer to Table 1.

Population Characteristics	Factors Associated with Frequent ED utilization	Factors Associated with Non-Urgent ED utilization
Predisposing Factors	Age Gender Race Employment Status Living Arrangements Marital Status	Mechanical Restraints Employment Status
Enabling Resources	Income Social Support Social Assistance Insurance Status Geography Mode of Arrival	No Findings
Need Factors	Diagnosis Previous Health Service Use	Diagnosis Need for Medication Refill Defaulting

Table 1. Summary of Factors Examined Throughout the Literature

Limitations of the Current Body of Research

Though a plethora of studies have examined the characteristics of those who utilize the ED for the treatment of mental illness, a significant number of limitations were found to exist in the current body of literature. The first major limitation found in the literature was the scarcity of articles examining the characteristics and patterns of those utilizing the ED for non-urgent mental health care. This is a significant limitation as nonurgent visitation is one of the key factors contributing to overcrowding in Canadian EDs (Hoot & Aronsky, 2008). One study by Adeosun et al. (2014) examined predictors of non-urgent ED utilization, however the study was conducted in Lagos, Nigeria. Nigeria's health care system is significantly different with a distinct set of challenges not experienced in Canada such as: lack of medication and supplies, decaying infrastructure, and severe inequity regarding the distribution of health care (Welcome, 2011). Another limitation to the study is that it examined cases at a psychiatric hospital, where many Nigerian's choose to access emergent mental health care; Canadians and more specifically, residents of Windsor-Essex receive treatment for emergent cases of mental illness in EDs that do not specialize in psychiatric care. The difference in sources of access for emergent health care decreases the applicability of the study to Canadian population. Additionally, the fact that the cases were examined at a single site decreases the external validity of the study further. The lack of studies in Canada regarding nonurgent ED utilization for mental illness shows a large gap in the current body of literature.

The retrospective nature of the body of literature examined was another factor found to be a significant limitation. While retrospective studies are effective at finding preliminary associations, especially when funding is limited, retrospective designs have their limitations (El-Masri, 2014). All observational research is at an increased risk for selection bias, though El-Masri (2014) argues that the risk is much higher in retrospective studies as researchers have access to both the independent and outcome variable at the time of data collection. An additional drawback of retrospective studies is that one can only control and adjust for known confounders (El-Masri, 2013). Understanding confounders is of extreme importance as a confounding variable can lead to a muddled relationship and invalid conclusions (El-Masri, 2013).

Another limitation found among the literature was the variance among the inclusion criteria of the studies. Many of the studies implemented a strict inclusion criteria concentrating on specific patient populations. A number of studies narrowed

their inclusion criteria to a specific age group (Goldstein et al., 2007; Newton et al., 2010; Newton et al., 2012; Pittsenbarger & Mannix, 2014; Walsh et al., 2015), whereas others chose to focus on specific diagnoses such as psychosis (Nossel et al., 2010) or schizophrenia and mood disorders (Hackman et al., 2006). While implementing a strict inclusion criterion increases the specificity of who can utilize the findings, a major consequence of doing so is that it decreases the external validity of a study resulting in fewer academics and researchers being able to utilize the findings (Groves, Burns, & Gray, 2013).

The lack of a consistent operational definition was determined for the term frequent or repeat user; this was found to be a limiting factor. The operational definition indicates how a variable will be measured (Groves et al., 2013). The definition of frequent user varied greatly among the studies with some studies defining frequent visitation as more than one visit a year (Boyer et al., 2011), while others defined it as five or more visits in a year (Vandyk et al., 2014). The lack of a consistent operational definition makes a direct comparison of the findings particularly difficult.

Inconsistency was also found in the diagnostic tools utilized by different institutions and studies. Numerous diagnostic tools have been developed to assist and guide the diagnosis and billing of those with mental illness such as the International Classification of Disease (ICD) created by the WHO, and the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), created by the American Psychiatric Association (APA) (APA, 2016; WHO, 2016c). Variance was also found in the editions of diagnostic tools utilized by the different studies, as authors utilized the most current edition at the time of their study. The utilization of different criteria can distort the collective

conclusions found among the literature. To solve this problem, the APA is creating the newest DSM edition to include direct linkages between diagnoses provided in the DSM, and those provided in both the ninth and tenth editions of the ICD (APA, 2016b).

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

Research Design

A secondary data analysis was conducted to examine the independent predictors of non-urgent ED visits by individuals with mental illness in Southwestern Ontario. The initial study conducted by El-Masri et al. (2014) was a two-phase mixed methods study with the purpose of exploring factors associated with general non-urgent ED visits in seven community-based hospitals in the Erie-St. Clair LHIN. The data for this study were acquired from the larger database used in the first quantitative arm of the primary study, which consisted of a retrospective chart review of all visits to EDs across the seven hospitals between January 1, 2007 and December 31, 2011 (El-Masri et al., 2014).

Sample and Setting

The initial study conducted by El-Masri et al. (2014) started with a preliminary sample size of 639, 279 participants and 143 variables collected for the first phase. Data were collected between the years of 2011 and 2012 from three different regions: Chatham-Kent, Sarnia-Lambton, and Windsor-Essex. After the removal of irrelevant variables, non-triaged patients, and those seen outside of the Erie St. Clair LHIN, a final sample of 253, 621 participants contributed 597, 373 ED visits to one of the seven community hospitals (El-Masri et al., 2014). For the purpose of this study, a sub-cohort of patients was extracted from the final dataset to include only those who visited one of the three EDs in the Windsor-Essex region for mental health concerns: Windsor Regional Hospital – Metropolitan Campus, Windsor Regional Hospital – Ouellette Campus (formerly known as Hotel-Dieu Grace Hospital – St. Joseph) and Leamington District Memorial Hospital.

Both of the Windsor Regional Hospital campuses are located in an urban city center, as opposed to Learnington District Memorial Hospital, which is located in a rural surrounding community. Together both campuses of Windsor Regional Hospital have a combined capacity of approximately 480 inpatient beds, and are known as one of the largest community-based non-academic hospitals in Ontario seeing roughly 120, 000 ED visits a year (Windsor Regional Hospital, 2016). Learnington District Memorial Hospital is smaller than the two urban hospitals with an inpatient bed capacity of 58 inpatient beds and has roughly 29, 000 ED visits a year. Due to the limited number of resources available to this rural hospital, those who suffer from broken bones, psychiatric illnesses, or life threatening trauma are often transferred to Windsor Regional Hospital to ensure appropriate resources and expertise are available for these patients.

Sample Size. G*Power 3.1.9.2 was used to determine the statistical power of this study. A minimum sample of 5, 600 patients was required to reject the null hypothesis based on a conservative odds ratio (OR) of 1.2, assuming 80% power and a two-tailed alpha of 0.05 (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). The database used in this analysis has 13, 114 observations from 7, 479 patients; yielding it more than sufficient to conduct the study without the concern of potentially committing type II error.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria. A case was included in the study if: (a) the visit took place at one of the three hospital EDs located in the Windsor-Essex region, and (b) the primary purpose of the visit was for mental health care. A case was excluded from the study if it did not meet both of the previously mentioned conditions.

Variable Definitions

A comprehensive and clear understanding of both the conceptual and operational definitions of a variable is important for an in-depth understanding of the relationships being studied (Groves et al., 2013). In light of this fact, the purpose of this section is to provide both the conceptual and operational definitions of the variables studied. The variables examined in this study were predetermined, as the data were collected by the Erie St. Clair LHIN and provided to El-Masri et al. (2014) for analysis.

Predisposing Factors

Age in years was measured as a continuous variable and was collected at the time of triage. *Gender* was measured as a dichotomous variable with participants labeled as either male or female based on the biological sex registered during triage. *Time of day* was defined as time the patient was triaged at the hospital site and was measured categorically as the shift the patient presented: days (07:00 - 14:59), evenings, (15:00 - 22:59), or nights (23:00 - 06:59). *Season* was collected at the time of triage and was measured as a categorical variable consisting of: (a) spring, (b) summer, (c) winter, or (d) fall. *Residential status* was defined as the presence of permanent housing, and was measured as a dichotomous variable with either the presence of a permanent residence.

Enabling Resources

Hospital type was measured as either an urban or rural facility; with both of the Windsor Regional Hospital sites classified as urban due to their location within the city of Windsor, and Leamington Memorial Hospital classified as rural. *Access to primary health care* was defined as one having the option to receive treatment from a PCP.

Access was measured as the patient having: (a) a family physician, (b) another PCP (i.e. nurse practitioner, doctor of osteopathy, etc.), or (c) no access to a PCP. *Ambulatory type* was defined as the method upon which a patient arrived to the ED. This variable was measured as a dichotomous categorical variable with the patient either: (a) arriving by ambulance, or (b) not arriving by ambulance. The *main ED provider* was defined as the primary clinician that cared for and discharged the patient from the ED, and was measured as a categorical variable with one of the following clinicians treating the patient: (a) family physician, (b) emergency physician, or (c) a nurse/nurse practitioner. **Need Factors**

Diagnosis was extracted as documented in the database based on the WHO's ICD-10 criteria, and was measured as a categorical variable. More specifically, the subsection known as the Mental and Behavioural Disorders (F00 – F99) was utilized by clinicians in the ED at hospitals in Windsor-Essex County for both diagnostic and billing purposes. Due to a plethora of diagnoses being assigned (>100), the top four diagnoses, which contributed 55% of all visits, were compared against the rest of those seeking care for mental illness. The *referral source* was defined as the person that initiated the process of care seeking; this was measured as a dichotomous categorical variable with either: (a) a health care provider referring the patient to the ED, or (b) the referral came from one's self, family, or care taker. *Disposition Status* was defined as the manner of departure of a patient after triage or treatment in the ED. The categorical variable was measured as: (a) discharged home, (b) left after triage, prior to treatment, (c) admitted as an inpatient, (d) transferred to another facility, (e) transferred to another department or facility within the organization (i.e. day surgery, clinic), or (f) death upon arrival. *Wait time* was defined as

the number of hours a patient had to wait prior to receiving treatment, and was measured and categorized as follows: (a) 0 - 4 hours, (b) 4.1 - 6 hours, (c) 6.1 - 8 hours, or (d) longer than 8 hours.

Dependent Variable.

Non-urgent use of the ED for mental health care was measured using the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS) score given to the patient at the time of triage. A CTAS score is given to all patients visiting an ED in Canada and is used to prioritize the urgency and need of patients being seen, as well as to guide them toward the most appropriate treatment area (CAEP, 2016). The CTAS is utilized in an ordinal manner, with a CTAS score of one regarded as the most urgent and a CTAS score of five being considered the least urgent. For the purpose of this study, the CTAS score was measured as a dichotomous variable, with non-urgent visits defined as any CTAS score of 4 or 5, and an urgent visit being defined as a CTAS score of 3 or less. See appendix A to view the CTAS criteria set forth by the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians.

Protection of Human Subjects

Prior to data extraction and analysis, ethics approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Board (REB) at the University of Windsor. Due to the retrospective nature of the study and the lack of patient contact, a waiver of consent was acquired from the REB. Data was received with all cases de-identified and all participants given a randomized code to ensure anonymity. The database was kept in a password-protected computer in a locked room at the University of Windsor, and was only accessed by the principle investigator, the thesis supervisor, and a post-doctoral fellow assisting with data analysis.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23. A two-tailed alpha of 0.05 and/or a 95% confidence interval was used as the criterion to establish statistical significance. The dataset was screened for the presence, severity, and pattern of missing data; no missing data were found. All continuous variables were examined for the presence of a normal distribution. Fisher's Skewness and Kurtosis coefficients were examined with a value of \pm 1.96 as the absolute value. In addition to examining the normality of distribution, the presence of univariate outliers was explored for using a Z-score of \pm 3.29 as the cut-off. The examination of outliers is important due to the fact that statistically significant outliers can skew the results of the data analysis (Polit, 2010). The presence of multivariate outliers was searched for through examination of Mahalanobis distance.

Research Question 1. *What are the characteristics of the individuals and visits made by those who choose to utilize the ED for mental health care?*

Both Pearson's chi-square and student's t-test were performed to determine diagnostic, demographic, and visitation differences between urgent and non-urgent visits for mental health care. The results from these analyses were used to provide descriptive statistics, and as a preliminary measure to determine which variables should be added to the multivariate analysis. The variables found to have a p-value ≤ 0.25 were included in the multivariate model as recommended by Hosmer and Lemeshow (2000).

Research Question 2. What are the independent predictors of non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care?

Binary logistic regression with generalized estimating equations (GEE) modeling was utilized to determine the independent predictors of non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care. Logistic regression was utilized due to the dichotomous nature of the dependent variable; this statistical analysis is used to yield a predictive model for binary level dependent variables (Polit, 2010). GEE modeling was used to account for the fact that a significant number of patients contributed more than one visit.

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

The purpose of this chapter is to provide and describe the results of the statistical analyses conducted to answer the proposed research questions. Data screening and preparation will be described, followed by the presentation of the descriptive statistics, unadjusted univariate analyses (chi-square, student's t-test), and the adjusted multivariate logistic regression findings.

Data Screening and Preparation

Descriptive statistics were conducted to examine the presence of any missing data; no missing data were found. The variable *age* was examined for normal distribution and univariate outliers, as it was the only continuous variable utilized in the analyses. The variable was normally distributed with a skewness value of .578 and a kurtosis value of -.304; both are under the absolute value of \pm 1.96 as recommended by Tabachnick and Fidell (2007). *Age* was also examined for univariate outliers utilizing a z-score of \pm 3.29 as the cut-off point (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). No values were found to exist outside of this critical range. Similarly, the presence of multivariate outliers was examined through the inspection of Mahalanobis distance, which suggested the absence of any outlier cases.

Prior to conducting the multivariate regression analysis, all categorical variables that were not binary in nature were dummy coded to allow for their meaningful inclusion in the analysis. The variable *main diagnosis* was created utilizing the top four diagnoses accounting for 55.3% of all diagnoses. This was done to account for the fact that over 100 psychiatric diagnoses were assigned to patients who visited the EDs of Windsor-Essex County. Similarly, the variable *within subjects* was created to examine the number

of times a patient visited the ED during the study period so that clustered GEE could be conducted. The variable *proximity* was not utilized; it was a categorical variable describing the township of residence. Unfortunately, the geographical boundaries of the townships are not an accurate measure of proximity to the hospital as many of the municipalities overlap and stretch into the cities of Windsor and Leamington.

Research Question Results

Research Question 1. What are the characteristics of the individuals and visits made by those who choose to utilize the ED for mental health care?

Measures of frequency and central tendency were used to describe the sample characteristics. Chi-square and student t-tests were conducted to compare these characteristics between the study groups. First, the sample characteristics were obtained through the analysis of the primary cases only (n = 7, 479). This was done to prevent the misrepresentation of the sample characteristics, since many patients contributed more than one visit. A total of 13, 114 visits were observed during the study period.

Sample Characteristics. Table 2 provides an overview of the sample characteristics and a comparison of these characteristics based on urgency of ED visits for mental health care. The mean age of the study cohort was 37.8 years ($SD \pm 18.85$; range = 0 - 97). Furthermore, there was an equal proportion of males (50.9%; n = 3, 810) and females (49.1%; n = 3, 669) in the sample. The vast majority of patients resided in a permanent home (99.7%; n = 7, 460), while only 0.3% (n = 18) of the sample identified as being homeless. The predominance of patients had access to primary health care (87.8%; n = 6, 568), with only 12.2% (n = 911) having no primary health care provider. Despite the abundance of psychiatric diagnoses assigned to patients in the ED, four

common diagnoses were found to contribute a significant number of visits.

Mood/Affective disorders were the most common diagnoses with 28.3% (n = 1, 782) of the sample assigned to this group, followed by alcohol-induced mental disorders (13%; n = 970), mental disorder related to psychoactive substance abuse (9.6%; n = 719), and schizophrenia or delusional disorders (8.9%; n = 666). The rest of the diagnoses were combined into a final category labeled as *other mental and behavioural disorders* (44.7%; n = 3, 342).

Visit Characteristics. When examining the visit characteristics (see Table 3), all observations were included in the analysis (n = 13, 114). The majority of visits observed were urgent in nature as evidenced by their CTAS scores (n = 9, 318; 71%). The proportion of visits remained consistent regardless of the season: winter (25.7%), spring (24.8%), summer (24.7%), and fall (24.8%). The data suggests that 94.5% of visits occurred at one of the urban hospitals (n = 12, 387), and that the majority of patients arrived to their hospital of choice without an ambulance (n = 7, 175; 54.7%). Additionally, 83.7% (n = 10, 979) of visits were initiated by a self-referral or the referral of a family member/caretaker, as opposed to a referral from a PCP (n = 2, 135; 16.3%). Finally, the data suggests that the predominance of visits occurred during the day (n = 5, 914; 45.1%). Interestingly, while the night shift only saw 20.8% (n = 2, 724) of visits, it was this shift that had the highest proportion of non-urgent visits (32.4%)

The *main ED provider, wait time,* and *disposition status* were examined to determine if they were associated with non-urgent ED use for mental health care, however they were not included in the regression model. These variables transpired after the patient was assigned a triage score, and therefore cannot be examined as a predictor

of non-urgent ED use. Interestingly, while the majority of patients were seen by either a family physician or an emergency medicine physician (42.4% versus 45.1%,

respectively), it was those seen by a family physician that were the most likely to be seen for an urgent reason ($\chi^2 = 478.54$; p = <.001). Another noteworthy fact is that while majority of patients had a wait time of less than four hours (50.5%; n = 6, 626), it was the cohort that waited longer than eight hours that had the highest proportion of urgent visits ($\chi^2 = 455.91$; p = <.001). The majority of patients were sent home from the ED (n = 9, 251; 70.5%); though it was those who were admitted to inpatient units (n = 2, 055), and those transferred to another department or facility within the organization (n = 12) that were the most likely to have visited for an urgent reason ($\chi^2 = 231.89$; p = <.001). Finally, the decision was made to exclude the variable *residential status* from the regression model, as there was a pronounced disproportion between the number patients who lived in a permanent home versus those who self-identified as homeless (99.7% versus 0.3%, respectively).

	Gro	oups			
Variable	Urgent Non-Urgent (n = 5462) (n = 2017)		Total (N = 7, 479)	t/χ^2	р
Ασε				250^{t}	01
Years $[M \pm SD]$	37.46 ± 19.21	38.69 ± 17.8	37.79 ± 18.85	-2.39	.01
Gender [<i>n</i> (%)]				× <i>۲</i> ۲	.004
Male	2838 (74.5%)	972 (25.5%)	3810 (50.9%)	8.3/*	
Female	2624 (71.5%)	1045 (28.5%)	3669 (49.1%)		
Residential Status [n (%)]	5451 (73.1%)	2009 (26.9%)	7460 (99.7%)	2.27×	0.14
Permanent Home	11 (57.9%)	8 (42.1%)	18 (0.3%)		
Homeless					
Access to Primary Care [n (%)]				15.89×	<. 001
Family Physician	4774 (73.5)	1724 (26.5)	6498 (86.9)		
Other	61 (87.1)	9 (12.9)	70 (0.9)		
None	627 (68.8)	284 (31.2)	911 (12.2)		
Diagnosis [n (%)]				69 16×	<. 001
Alcohol Induced Mental/	808 (83.3)	162 (16.7)	970 (13.0)	07.10	
Behavioural Disorders					
Psychoactive Substance Induced Mental/Behavioural	512 (71.2)	207 (28.8)	719 (9.6)		
Disorder					
Schizophrenia/Delusional Disorders	508 (76.3)	158 (23.7)	666 (8.9)		
Mood and Affective Disorders	1278 (71.7)	504 (28.3)	1782 (23.8)		
Other Mental and Behavioural Disorders	2356 (70.5)	986 (29.5)	3342 (44.7)		

 Table 2. Comparison of Sample Characteristics (Urgent vs. Non-Urgent)

t = student's t-test; $\chi =$ chi-square

	Gro	ups			
Variable	Urgent (<i>n</i> = 9, 318)	Non-Urgent (<i>n</i> = 3, 796)	Total (N = 13,114)	χ^2	р
Season [<i>n</i> (%)]				6.25	.10
Winter	2389 (70.9)	979 (29.1)	3368 (25.7)		
Spring	2292 (70.5)	957 (29.5)	3249 (24.8)		
Summer	2271 (70.0)	971 (30.0)	3242 (24.7)		
Fall	2366 (72.7)	889 (27.3)	3255 (24.8)		
Hospital Type [n (%)]				27.71	< .001
Urban	8864 (71.6)	3523 (28.4)	12387 (94.5)		
Rural	454 (62.4)	273 (37.6)	727 (5.5)		
Ambulatory Type [n (%)]				210.0	< .001
Arrived by Ambulance	4595 (77.4)	1344 (22.6)	5939 (45.3)		
No Ambulance	4723 (65.8)	2452 (34.2)	7175 (54.7)		
Referral Source [n (%)]				3.32	.07
Self/Family/Caretaker	7836 (71.4)	3143 (28.6)	10979 (83.7)		
Other Health Care Provider	1482 (69.4)	653 (30.6)	2135 (16.3)		
Main ED Provider [<i>n</i> (%)]				478.54	< .001
Family Practitioner	4356 (78.4)	1203 (21.6)	5559 (42.4)		
Emergency Physician	4123 (69.7)	1793 (30.3)	5916 (45.1)		
Nurse (RN or NP)	381 (56.3)	296 (43.7)	667 (5.2)		
Other	458 (47.6)	504 (52.4)	962 (7.3)		
Time of Day [<i>n</i> (%)]				27.44	< .001
Dav	4194 (70.9)	1720 (29.1)	5914 (45.1)		
Evening	3283 (73.3)	1193 (26.7)	4476 (34.1)		
Night	1841 (67.6)	883 (32.4)	2724 (20.8)		
Wait Time [<i>n</i> (%)]				455.91	< .001
0 - 4 Hours	4180 (63.1)	2446 (36.9)	6626 (50.5)		
4.1 – 6 Hours	1867 (74.9)	625 (25.1)	2492 (19.0)		
6.1 – 8 Hours	1004 (79.2)	264 (20.8)	1268 (9.7)		
> 0 II	22(7(921))	461 (16 0)	2729 (20.9)		

Table 3.	Comparison	of Visit	Characteristics	(Urgent vs	. Non-Urgent)
	,	./		\ ()	() /

Disposition Status [<i>n</i> (%)]				231.89	<. 001
Discharged Home	6405 (69.2)	2846 (30.8)	9251 (70.5)		
Patient Left before Treatment	548 (59.2)	378 (40.8)	926 (7.1)		
Inpatient Admission	1707 (83.1)	348 (16.9)	2055 (15.7)		
Transferred to Other Facility	344 (77.3)	101 (22.7)	445 (3.4)		
Intra-Facility Transfer	10 (83.3)	2 (16.7)	12 (0.1)		
Discharged to Institution	304 (71.5)	121 (28.5)	425 (3.2)		

Research Question 2. What are the independent predictors of non-urgent ED utilization

by those with mental Illness?

Binary logistic regression with GEE was utilized due to the dichotomous nature of the dependent variable and the clustered nature of the observations; the results are summarized in Table 4. Eight variables were found to be independent predictors of nonurgent ED use for mental health care. Age was found to be predictive, whereby every additional year of age increased one's risk of non-urgent ED use by one percent (OR =1.01; 95% CI = 1.005 - 1.01). One's access to primary health care was another factor found to be predictive, with those lacking a PCP being 1.2 times more likely to utilize the ED for non-urgent reasons than those with a family physician (OR = 1.2; 95% CI = 1.08-1.37). The final sample characteristic found to be predictive was the patient's diagnosis, with those with an alcohol induced mental disorder being 33% less likely to utilize the ED for non-urgent mental health care when compared against individuals with other psychiatric diagnoses (OR = .67; 95% CI = .56 - .79). Similarly, those with a diagnosis of schizophrenia or other delusional disorders were also found to be at a decreased risk for non-urgent use, with those assigned the diagnosis being 24% less likely to use the ED in a non-urgent manner (OR = .76; 95% CI = .66 - .87).

The *hospital type* was a significant predictor of non-urgent ED use for mental health care, with those visiting an urban hospital being 27% less likely to visit for a nonurgent reason than those visiting a rural hospital (OR = .73; 95% CI = .62 - .86). The mode of arrival was also found to be predictive, with those arriving without an ambulance being 1.77 times more likely to visit for a non-urgent reason than those arriving by ambulance (OR = 1.77; 95% CI = 1.61 - 1.93). The referral source was found to predictive, whereby those referred by a PCP were 1.14 times more likely to visit for non-urgent psychiatric complaint than those who were self-referrals or referred by a family member/caretaker. Another visit characteristic found to be significant was the time of day that the patient chose to utilize ED, with those visiting the ED at night (2300 -0659) being 1.3 times more likely to utilize the ED for a non-urgent reason than those visiting during the day (OR = 1.33; 95% CI = 1.19 - 1.47). Finally, the season was found to be predictive of non-urgent ED use for mental health care, with those visiting in the fall being 13% less likely to visit for a non-urgent reason when compared with those visiting in the summer (OR = .87; 95% CI = .78 - .98). Gender was the only variable found not to be significant.

Variable	β	SE	Р	OR	95% CI
Age	.008	.001	< .001	1.01	1.005 - 1.01
Gender Female Male (reference group)	.000	.0448	.99	1.003	.92 - 1.09
Access to Primary Care Other None Family Physician (reference group)	234 .199	.243 .062	.336 .002	.79 1.2	.49 – 1.27 1.08 – 1.37

Table 4. Logistic Regression using Generalized Estimating Equations

Table 4. Continued

Diagnosis Alcohol Induced Mental/ Behavioural Disorders	406	.091	< .001	.67	.56 – .79
Psychoactive Substance Induced Mental/Behavioural Disorder	012	.076	.87	.99	.85 – 1.15
Schizophrenia/Delusional Disorder	273	.070	< .001	.76	.66 – .87
Mood/Affective Disorders Other (reference group)	064	.051	.21	.94	.85 – 1.04
Hospital Type Urban Rural (reference group)	316	.084	< .001	.73	.62 – .86
Referral Source Health Care Provider Self/Family/Caretaker (reference group)	.131	.051	.01	1.14	1.03 - 1.26
Mode of Arrival No Ambulance Arrived by Ambulance (reference group)	.570	.461	< .001	1.77	1.61 – 1.93
Time of Day Evening Night Day (reference group)	017 .283	.047 .052	.721 < .001	.98 1.33	.89 – 1.08 1.19 – 1.47
Season Winter Spring Fall Summer (reference group)	048 043 137	.058 .057 .059	.403 .448 .022	.95 .96 .87	.85 – 1.07 .86 – 1.07 .78 – .98

 β = unstandardized coefficient; *SE* = standard error; *p* = probability of accepting the null hypothesis at an alpha of 0.05; *OR* = odds ratio; *CI* = confidence interval

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this chapter is to report and discuss the findings of this study within the context of existing literature to provide a comprehensive understanding of ED utilization by those with mental illness. More specifically, this chapter will discuss the independent predictors of non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care. Furthermore, the predictors of frequent ED utilization will be discussed, as both phenomena have been found to produce the same consequence: ED overcrowding. The predictors will be organized according to Andersen's (1995) population characteristics: predisposing factors, enabling resources, and need factors. Another objective of this chapter is to make recommendations based on the study findings for nursing education, practice, theory, and research, in addition to discussing the limitations of the study.

Predisposing Factors Associated with Non-Urgent ED Mental Health Care Use

In this study, *age* was found to be an independent predictor of non-urgent ED use for mental health care, whereby every additional year of age increased one's risk nonurgent use. This finding is contradictory to what is found in literature examining general non-urgent ED use (Usher-Pines et al., 2013). A likely reason for this finding is that as individuals age, they become more aware of the subtle signs and symptoms of their psychiatric illness. This awareness results in these patients seeking care prior to the development of any serious sequela. Unfortunately, Adeosun et al. (2014) did not examine age as a potential predictor, though it is worthwhile to note that that the mean age of participants within this study and Adeosun's were similar (37.5 years versus 36.8, respectively). With regards to frequent ED utilization, there was a great deal of confusion as to whether *age* could be utilized as a predictor.

While there was a difference in non-urgent ED use among males and females in the univariate analysis, *gender* was not found to be predictive when examined in the regression model. Similarly, Adeosun et al. (2014) also determined that gender was not predictive of non-urgent ED use for mental health care. It is worthwhile to note that there was an almost even split among males and females in the sample of this study (50.9% versus 49.1%, respectively). While gender was not found to be predictive of non-urgent ED utilization, the majority of literature regarding frequent ED use found that males are at an increased risk for recidivism (Brennan et al., 2014; Vandyk et al., 2014).

Both the time of day and the season were found to be predictive of non-urgent ED use for mental health care. Individuals visiting during the night (2300 - 0659) were 1.33 times more likely to visit for a non-urgent reason than those visiting during the day. This finding came as a surprise, as the majority of literature examining general non-urgent ED use report high levels of non-urgent use during the day (0700 - 1459) and evening (1500)- 2259) (Afilalo et al., 2004; Carret et al., 2009; El-Masri et al., 2014). Visits taking place during the fall were 13% less likely to be for a non-urgent reason when compared against the summer as the reference group; similar results have been found for general non-urgent ED use in Windsor-Essex (El-Masri et al., 2014). A likely reason for this is that cold weather often acts as a deterrent for health service use; this is especially true for non-urgent health care seekers (Diehl, Morris, & Mannis, 1981; Tai, Lee, Shih, & Chen, 2007). This finding is also noteworthy because fall is the season in which those suffering from Seasonal Affective Disorder (SAD) begin to become symptomatic; the presence of SAD has been found to exacerbate other psychiatric diagnoses (CMHA, 2017). This study was the first to examine the *time of day* and the *season* in which non-urgent ED

visits for mental health care took place; similarly, no studies examined their impact on the frequency of ED use for mental health care.

Enabling Resources Associated with Non-Urgent ED Mental Health Care Use

This study was the first to examine *primary health care access* and the *type of* hospital in relation to the urgency of ED visits for psychiatric care. Access to primary health care was found to be predictive of non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care; those without access to primary health care were 1.2 times more likely to use the ED for non-urgent care when compared to those with a family physician. Only 0.9% of the population had a PCP other than a physician (i.e., nurse practitioner, doctor of osteopathy, etc.), and they too were less likely to use the ED for non-urgent mental health care than those without access. This should come as no surprise, as a plethora of studies have found that those without a PCP tend to use the ED as a convenient alternative for timely primary care (El-Masri et al., 2014; Usher-Pines et al., 2013). The hospital type was also found to be a significant predictor, with those visiting an urban hospital being 27% less likely to visit for a non-urgent reason than those visiting a rural hospital. This is to be expected, as the rural hospital in the study does not have psychiatric services and transfers all patients experiencing a psychiatric crisis to Windsor Regional Hospital for evaluation (Erie Shores Health Care, 2017). A final enabling resource examined in this study was the *mode of arrival*, and it was determined that those who arrived without an ambulance were 1.76 times more likely to visit for a non-urgent reason when compared against those who arrived with an ambulance. To the contrary, Adeosun et al. (2014) found that arrival by the ambulance was not significantly associated with non-urgent ED

use for mental health care, though this study grouped arrival by police and ambulance into the same variable; if examined separately results may have differed.

Need Factors Associated with Non-Urgent ED Mental Health Care Use

Diagnosis was found to be predictive of non-urgent ED use for mental health care. This study found that those with a diagnosis of an alcohol induced mental or behavioural disorder, or a diagnosis of schizophrenia or delusional disorder were found to be at a decreased risk for non-urgent ED use when compared with those with other psychiatric diagnoses (OR = 0.66 and OR = 0.76, respectively). Those who present with excessive alcohol consumption are often unable to maintain their airway, resulting in a necessity for acute intervention. Furthermore, they often require intravenous fluid and electrolyte replacement, as well as close monitoring of electrolytes through laboratory testing and telemetry monitoring (Mayo Clinic, 2017). Similarly, a sense of urgency is apparent with those presenting to the ED with schizophrenia or delusional disorders, as they often present in a state of psychosis displaying visible signs of hallucinations, delusions, and paranoia (Centre for Addictions and Mental Health, 2012).

Adeosun et al. (2014) found that it was a diagnosis of suicidal ideation or a substance induced behavioural diagnosis that decreased one's risk for non-urgent ED use for mental health care. While Adeosun et al. (2014) determined that those visiting the ED for a substance induced psychiatric diagnosis were more likely to visit for an urgent reason, this study found no significant results. Furthermore, a review of the literature revealed that alcohol and psychoactive substance induced visits, as well as schizophrenia were all found to increase one's risk for frequent ED utilization for mental health care (Beck et al., 2015; Buhumaid et al., 2015; Vandyk et al., 2014). Interestingly, a study by

Vandyk et al. (2014) found that even if not visiting for schizophrenia or a delusional disorder, the existing prescription of an anti-psychotic medication increased one's risk for frequent ED visitation.

The *referral source* was a significant independent predictor. To our surprise, those who were referred by a health care provider were 1.14 times more likely to visit the ED for a non-urgent reason when compared against those who were a self-referral, or referred by a family member or caretaker. There are two possible explanations for this outcome: (a) PCPs often allot a fixed amount of time per patient visit, as insurance reimbursement is standardized regardless of the reason for the general assessment (Institute for Clinical and Evaluative Sciences, 2012); the in-depth discussion necessary for the treatment of mental illness may result in a referral of care to avoid excessive wait times for remaining patients, or (b) PCPs are uncomfortable dealing with mental health, and therefore send patients to the ED for psychiatric evaluation. Interestingly, while a referral from a health care provider increases one's risk for non-urgent ED use, it has been found to decrease the frequency of ED use by those with mental illness (Bruffaerts et al., 2006; Ledoux & Minner, 2006; Pasic et al., 2005).

The *main ED provider, wait time*, and *disposition status* were not included in the multivariate analysis due to the fact that these variables transpire after a CTAS score is assigned, and therefore cannot be examined as a predictor of non-urgent ED utilization. *Residential status* was another variable not included in the regression model, as there was a pronounced disproportion between the number patients who lived in a permanent home versus those who self-identified as homeless (99.7% versus 0.3%, respectively). Nevertheless, their associations with non-urgent ED use were examined in the descriptive

statistics. Those seen by a family physician were the most likely to be visiting for an urgent reason, when compared with those being seen by an emergency physician, a nurse practitioner, or a registered nurse. This could be explained by the fact that family physicians treat mental illness in clinics, and their increased comfort with this cohort of patients may result in them being assigned patients visiting the ED for a psychiatric crisis. To no surprise, those who were admitted, and those who were transferred to another department or facility within the organization were the most likely to receive an urgent CTAS score. A likely reason for intra-organizational transfers is because the Metropolitan Campus of Windsor Regional Hospital does not have psychiatric inpatient resources, and those who require inpatient services are transferred to the Ouellette Campus where these services are offered.

Those with mental illness have been found to have longer ED wait times when compared against those visiting for medical reasons, though to our surprise, it was the cohort that waited eight hours or longer that was most likely to visit for an urgent reason. Three possible explanations for this include: (a) those seeking help for mental health care often do not show objective measures of illness or cardiopulmonary compromise (decreased blood pressure, thready pulses, pallor, etc.) and therefore are not treated as a priority despite their low CTAS score, (b) those visiting for an urgent reason are more likely to wait for care, whereas those visiting for a non-urgent reason are more prone to leave prior to treatment or discharge, and (c) those who present for an urgent mental health complaint often require a psychiatric consult and inpatient treatment, both of which are often delayed. This is due to a lack of psychiatric specialist in Ontario, and a shortage of inpatient beds; Ontario has the lowest number of inpatient beds per capita

(CAEP, 2017; Kurdyak, Zaheer, Cheng, Rudoler, & Mulsant, 2017; Ontario Health Coalition, 2017). Finally, the unadjusted analysis determined that those who selfidentified as being homeless contributed a higher proportion of non-urgent ED visits than those who resided in a permanent home (42.1% versus 29.6%, respectively). A few possible explanations may provide insight to this phenomena: (a) those who self-identify as homeless have less access to primary care (Gill, Mainous, & Nsereko, 2000), (b) the majority of homeless tend to live inner-city placing them in close proximity of local EDs (Parsell, 2010), and (c) homeless individuals often have a lack of transportation resulting in the use of conveniently located health care centers (National Coalition for the Homeless, 2009).

Implications and Recommendations for Nursing

Education and Practice

As described above, there are certain characteristics of both patients and their visits that are predictive of non-urgent ED utilization for mental health care. Clinicians, students, and key stakeholders should be educated on these characteristics to avoid the consequences associated with non-urgent ED use. Education would provide clinicians the skill set to identify patients that are at an increased risk and direct them towards the appropriate community-based mental health resources. Clinicians should also be educated on the outpatient resources available for mental health care; this is especially true of ED clinicians, as the ED is often the first source of interaction patients have with the health care system. ED clinicians should take advantage of this situation, and take the time to educate non-urgent visitors about community-based resources in order to guide their future health service use away from the department. While patient education is
expected to decrease non-urgent ED use, it is recognized that education and knowledge does not always lead to behaviour change; this is particularly true for chronic illnesses including mental health concerns (Kelly & Barker, 2016). Unfortunately, it is predicted that there is likely to be a small cohort of patients who will continue to use the ED, as people often choose to use resources that they perceive to be most advantageous (Fishburn, 2013). A common conception found among the general population is that it is more convenient to visit the ED. Patients often state that they receive better care, have more access to services, and are seen quicker when compared against their PCP or other outpatient resources (Uscher-Pines et al., 2013).

While educating ED staff about community-based mental health resources may assist in decreasing congestion in the ED, education and collaboration should take place with local PCPs. Patients often develop long-term relationships with their PCPs, and have the opportunity to develop a strong rapport. Unfortunately, this study found that non-urgent visits to the ED for mental health care are often the result of an inappropriate transfer of care from a PCP. Education should take place with ED staff, PCPs, and community-based mental health resource leaders to ensure consistency of knowledge translation, and to encourage collaborative brainstorming. Inter-professional education has been found to: increase health care provider confidence, promote mutual understanding, facilitate communication between health care providers, and decrease the costs of education for organizations (Barr et al., 2000; Illingworth & Chelvanayagam, 2007).

As previously mentioned, it is recommended that both health care institutions and legislative agencies work together to educate the public about local community-based

mental health care services. One way to ensure the comprehension and recollection of this knowledge is through the creation and distribution of a hard copy resource. Appendix B displays a reference sheet manufactured by the CMHA to inform patients of outpatient mental health care services in Windsor-Essex County; this can be used as a template to assist in the organization of both services offered and institutions available. The distribution of this resource would be particularly beneficial upon discharge from the ED or inpatient mental health services, as it has been found to help reduce the high levels of reported confusion regarding discharge instructions (Engel et al., 2009; Zavala & Shaffer, 2011). Furthermore, a hard copy resource provides a structured and standardized form of knowledge translation; this has been found to increase patient satisfaction and follow-up with the necessary resources (Ben-Morderchai, Herman, Kerzman, & Irony, 2010). The resource should also be distributed to patients seeking health care at PCP offices and made available at other community-based mental health facilities such as: CMHA, Mental Health Connections, and the Community Crisis Center, to name a few. One recommendation for future resource development is the inclusion of photographs of the institutions, as visual images have been found to increase patient comprehension and recall (Choi, 2015).

Policy Development

This study sheds light on a variety of factors that are associated with non-urgent ED use for mental illness. To our surprise, those suffering from mental illness in Windsor-Essex County are the most likely to visit the ED for a non-urgent reason (El-Masri et al., 2014). The consequences of non-urgent ED use validate the need for the identification of patients at an increased risk, which was the purpose of this study. It is

recommended that a healthy public policy and, more specifically, a screening tool be developed and implemented in EDs, PCP offices, and community-based mental health care centers to assist in identifying those at an increased risk for non-urgent ED use. It is suggested that the screening tool be developed using the results of this study, as it is the only study in North America to examine this phenomenon. Furthermore, the screening tool can be utilized to assist in determining who is an appropriate candidate for community-based services, and who may benefit from receiving one of the previously mentioned CMHA resource lists.

In addition to the use of a screening tool, it is also recommended that institutional policies encourage the employment of on-site psychiatric resources and staff. Many who choose to use the ED for mental health care do not receive the individualized care that they require (Clarke et al., 2007). Unfortunately, there is often a lack of expert psychiatric staff found available in the ED (Marynowski-Traczyk & Broadbent, 2011). An Australian study by Wand (2004) found that the presence of trained mental health nurses in the ED reduced both the wait times and treatment times of patients presenting with a psychiatric complaint. Furthermore, their presence increased patient follow-up with community-based resources and increased the ED staff's confidence in caring for this cohort of patients. Similarly, the presence of mental health nurse practitioners (MHNPs) has been found to significantly decrease patient distress, and increase patient satisfaction with the care provided in the ED and during follow-up care (Wand, White, Patching, Dixon, & Green, 2012). Local hospitals should explore the integration of these roles into their EDs to see if similar outcomes are found in a Canadian population.

Theory and Research

Andersen's Behavioural Model of Health Service Use (BMHSU) was a useful model and aided in: (a) organizing the literature review, (b) guiding the methodology, (c) determining the predisposing factors, enabling resources, and need factors necessary for examination, and (d) organizing the results and discussion of this study. The structural and semantic clarity of the model allowed for easy transferability to the topic of nonurgent ED utilization for mental health care. Unfortunately, not all variables could be studied due to the limitations of this secondary data analysis, though this did not hinder the use of the model in providing a theoretical lens for the examination of this phenomenon. It is recommended that future studies examining the same topic utilize the BMHSU, as theories and models enable researchers to connect a single study to a base of knowledge (Neuman, 1997). The application of the same theory across different studies ensures that patterns and relationships are examined in a similar manner, further validating our understanding and use of the BMHSU and the phenomenon of interest (Sunday, 2016).

While this study provided a preliminary understanding and insight regarding nonurgent ED use for mental illness, future research should aim to examine the phenomenon with a prospective study design. A major advantage of a prospective study design is that it allows researchers to obtain and understand a temporal relationship, ensuring that the exposure (mental illness) takes place prior to the outcome (non-urgent ED utilization) (El-Masri, 2014). Secondly, prospective study designs should aim to examine the population characteristics of the BMHSU that this study was unable to assess (i.e.,

income, educational status, etc.), in addition to other major concepts, including: environment, health behaviour, and outcomes.

A final recommendation for future research is to conduct a qualitative or mixedmethods study to gain an understanding of the contextual factors that influence those using the ED use for non-urgent mental health care. A qualitative lens would add richness and more depth to the body of knowledge, providing a comprehensive and realworld understanding of the phenomenon (LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2013). Qualitative research is useful in examining complex and new areas of research (Clarke & Jack, 1998); both of which apply to the examination of ED use for non-urgent mental health care. Therefore, a mixed-methods approach would be beneficial when examining this complex phenomenon as more insight is gained from a combination of both quantitative and qualitative philosophies, than from their methodology used separately.

Limitations

Due to the secondary nature of this study, a major limitation was that the variables available for examination were pre-determined by the initial data collected by the Erie-St. Clair LHIN and analyzed by El-Masri et al. (2014). This fact limited the study from utilizing Andersen's (1995) BMHSU to its full scope, leaving many variables recommended by the model unexamined (i.e., perceived patient need, health beliefs, etc.). The study was also limited by the data collection allowed by hospital systems; many basic determinants of health are not recorded to prevent discrimination, as they are not necessary for the care being provided (i.e., race, income, education, etc.). The examination of these missing variables would have provided a more comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon of interest. Finally, a variable called *proximity* was

present in the database, though it was not examined due to the fact that it was categorized based on the municipality of residence. Unfortunately, the borders of the municipalities of Windsor-Essex County stretch across one another, and into the cities of Windsor and Learnington making the variable an inaccurate measurement of proximity to the hospital visited.

This study analyzed data from three non-academic health care facilities in Southwestern Ontario. Unfortunately, this decreases the external validity of the findings and is noted as a limitation of this study. The final set of limitations described are those expected of a retrospective study design. While all observational research increases the risk of selection bias, this is particularly true of retrospective studies (El-Masri, 2014). Furthermore, as with all retrospective studies, one cannot ascertain causality; this is because both the independent and dependent variables are collected at the same time preventing the understanding of a temporal relationship. Despite this fact, a strong theoretical understanding of health service utilization can assist the researcher in determining predictors as a number of variables come prior to service utilization, and the assignment of a triage score (i.e., one's age, gender, residential status, etc.). Finally, due to the secondary nature of this study, accuracy of the initial data collection and entry into the statistical software program cannot be assured. Despite these limitations, this design was appropriate due to the exploratory nature of this study. Retrospective studies are effective in providing preliminary associations to help guide future research.

Conclusion

To our knowledge, this is the first Canadian study examining the independent predictors of non-urgent ED use for mental health care. Eight variables were found to be

predictive, and were organized based on Andersen's (1995) BMHSU: predisposing factors, enabling resources, and need factors. The following predisposing factors were found to be significant: age, season, and time of day. The following enabling resources were found to be significant: access to primary health care, mode of arrival, and hospital type. The following need factors were found to be significant: patient diagnosis and referral source. Though not included within the multivariate analysis, the following variables were found to be associated with non-urgent ED use for mental health care in the unadjusted analysis: residential status, wait time, main provider in the ED, and the disposition status. Understanding the factors associated with non-urgent ED use for mental health care gives clinicians, educators, and policy makers the information to identify patients at an increased risk, as well as patients who qualify for community-based mental health care. Recommendations for nursing education, practice, theory, and policy have been presented and discussed. Future research should aim to incorporate both a prospective study design and a qualitative methodology.

REFERENCES

- Aagaard, J., Aagaard, A., & Buus, N. (2014). Predictors of frequent visits to a psychiatric emergency room: A large-scale register study combined with a small-scale interview study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 51(7), 1003-1013.
- Adeosun, I. I., Adegbohun, A. A., Jeje, O. O., Oyekunle, O. O., & Omoniyi, M. O.
 (2014). Urgent and non-urgent presentations to a psychiatric emergency service in Nigeria: Pattern and correlates. *Emergency Medicine International*, 1-7.
- Afilalo, J., Marinovich, A., Afilalo, M., Colacone, A., Léger, R., Unger, B., & Giguère, C. (2004). Non-urgent emergency department patient characteristics and barriers to primary care. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, *11*(12), 1302-1310. doi:10.1197/j.aem.2004.08.032
- American Psychiatric Association. (2016). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*. Retrieved from:

http://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/practice/dsm/icd-10

- American Psychiatric Association. (2016). *Using DSM-5 in the transition to ICD 10*. Retrieved from: http://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/practice/dsm/icd-10
- Andersen, R., & Newman, J. F. (2005). Societal and individual determinants of medical care utilization in the United States. *The Milbank Quarterly*, *83*(4), 1 24.
- Austin, A., & Boyd, M. A. (2010). *Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing for Canadian Practice*. (2nd ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

Baillargeon, J., Pollock, B. H., Thomas, C. R., Murray, O. J., Williams, B., Pulvino, J.S.,

& Sharma, S. (2008). Medical emergency department utilization patterns among uninsured patients with psychiatric disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, *59*(7), 808-811.

- Babitsch, B., Gohl, D., & von Lengerke, T. (2012). Re-revisiting Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Use: A systematic review of studies from 1998
 2011. *Psycho-Social Medicine*, 9(1), 1 – 15.
- Barr, H., Freeth, D., Hammick, M., Koppel, I., & Reeves, S. (2000). Evaluations of Inter-professional Education: A United Kingdom Revieti' for Health and Social Care. Review, UK Center for the Advancement of Interprofessional Education
 British Educational Research Association. London
- Beache, S. K., & Guell, C. (2016). Non-urgent accident and emergency department use as a socially shared custom: A qualitative study. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 33(1), 47-51.
- Beck, A., Sanchez-Walker, E., Evans, L. J., Harris, V., Pegler, R., & Cross, S. (2015).
 Characteristics of people who rapidly and frequently reattend the emergency department for mental health needs. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 23(5), 351 355.
- Ben-Morderchai, B., Herman, A., Kerzman, H., & Irony, A. (2010). Structured discharge education improves early outcome in orthopedic patients. *International Journal of Orthopaedic and Trauma Nursing*, 14(2), 66-74.
- Boyer, L., Dassa, D., Belzeaux, R., Henry, J. M., Samuelian, J. C., Baumstarck-Barrau,
 K., & Lancon, C. (2011). Frequent visits to a French psychiatric emergency
 service: Diagnostic variability in psychotic disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, 62(8),

966-970.

- Brennan, J. J., Chan, T. C., Hsia, R. Y., Wilson, M. P., & Castillo, E. M. (2014). Emergency department utilization among frequent users with psychiatric visits. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 21(9), 1015-1022.
- Broadbent, M., Moxham, L., & Dwyer, T. (2014). Implications of the emergency department triage environment on triage practice for clients with a mental illness at triage in an Australian context. *Australian Emergency Nursing Journal*, 17(1), 23-29.
- Bruffaerts, R., Sabbe, M., & Demyttenaere, K. (2006). Who visits the psychiatric emergency room for the first time? *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41(7), 580-586.
- Brunero, S., Fairbrother, G., Lee, S., & Davis, M. (2007). Clinical characteristics of people with mental health problems who frequently attend an Australian emergency department. *Australian Health Review*, 31(3), 462-470.
- Buhumaid, R., Riley, J., Sattarian, M., Bregman, B., & Blanchard, J. (2015).
 Characteristics of frequent users of the emergency department with psychiatric conditions. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, *26*(3), 941 950.
- Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians. (2016). *Canadian triage and acuity scale implementation guidelines*. Retrieved from: http://caep.ca/resources/ctas/implementation-guidelines
- Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians. (2017). *Overcrowding*. Retrieved from: http://caep.ca/advocacy/overcrowding

Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians. (2010). *Position statement – emergency department overcrowding*. Retrieved from:

http://caep.ca/sites/caep.ca/files/caep/files/caep-overcrowding.pdf

Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2016). *Many more young Canadians using health services for mental disorders*. Retrieved from:

https://www.cihi.ca/en/types-ofcare/specialized-services/mental-health-and addictions/many-more-young-Canadians using

Canadian Mental Health Association (2016a). *Mental illness*. Retrieved from: http://www.cmha.ca/mental health/mental-illness/#.Vw5Q8BMrKis

Canadian Mental Health Association. (2016b). *Facts about mental illness*. Retrieved from: http://www.cmha.ca/media/fast-facts-about-mental-illness/#.Vt3GNpMrKis

Canadian Mental Health Association (2016c). *The Relationship between mental health, mental illness and chronic physical conditions*. Retrieved from: http://ontario.cmha.ca/public_policy/the-relationship-between-mental-healthmental-illness-and-chronic-physical-conditions/#.Vw6WAxMrKis

Canadian Mental Health Association. (2010). *Mental health for all fact sheet: Mental health is everyone's concern*. Retrieved from:

https://stevemacleanps.ocdsb.ca/Home%20Page%20Docs/everyones-concern.pdf

- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2017). *Seasonal affective disorder*. Retrieved from: https://www.cmha.bc.ca/documents/seasonal-affective-disorder-2/
- Centre for Addictions and Mental Health. (2012). The symptoms of psychosis. Retrieved from:

http://www.camh.ca/en/hospital/health_information/a_z_mental_health_and_addic

tion_information/psychosis/first_episode_psychosis_information_guide/Pages/fep_ symptoms.aspx

- Carter, E. J., Pouch, S. M., & Larson, E. L. (2014). The relationship between emergency department crowding and patient outcomes: A systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 46(2), 106-115.
- Carret, M. L., Fassa, A. C., & Domingues, M. R. (2009). Inappropriate use of emergency services: A systematic review of prevalence and associated factors. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública*, 25(1), 7 - 28.
- Chaput, Y. J., & Lebel, M. J. (2007a). An examination of the temporal and geographical patterns of psychiatric emergency service use by multiple visit patients as a means for their early detection. *BioMed Central Psychiatry*, 7(1), 1.
- Chaput, Y. J., & Lebel, M. J. (2007b). Demographic and clinical profiles of patients who make multiple visits to psychiatric emergency services. *Psychiatric Services*, 58(3), 335-341.
- Choi, J. (2015). Effect of pictograph-based discharge instructions on older adults' comprehension and recall: A pilot study. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, *9*(2), 66-71.
- Clarke, D. E., Dusome, D., & Hughes, L. (2007). Emergency department from the mental health client's perspective. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 16(2), 126-131.
- Clarke, A. M., & Jack, B. (1998). The benefits of using qualitative research. *Professional Nurse*, *13*(12), 845-847.

- Diehl, A. K., Morris, M. D., & Mannis, S. A. (1981). Use of calendar and weather data to predict walk-in attendance. *Southern Medical Journal*, 74(6), 709-712.
- Drummond, A. J. (2002). No room at the inn: Overcrowding in Ontario's emergency departments. *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *4*(2), 91-97.
- Durand, A. C., Palazzolo, S., Tanti-Hardouin, N., Gerbeaux, P., Sambuc, R., & Gentile,
 S. (2012). Non-urgent patients in emergency departments: Rational or
 irresponsible consumers? Perceptions of professionals and patients. *BMC Research Notes*, 5(1), 1.
- El-Masri, M. (2013). Confounding. Canadian Nurse, 109(7), 11.
- El-Masri, M., Crawley, J., Bornais, J., Omar, A., Malott, T., & Erie St. Clair Local Health Integration Network (ESC LHIN) working group. (2014). ESC LHIN emergency department visits: Quantitative report. Commissioned report, Department of Nursing, University of Windsor, Windsor, Canada.
- El-Masri, M. (2014). Selection bias. Canadian Nurse, 109(8), 10.
- Emergency Nurses Association. (2011). Consensus statement: Definitions for consistent emergency department metrics. Retrieved from: https://www.ena.org/about/media/PressReleases/Documents/07-13-

11_DefinitionsED_Metrics.pdf

Engel, K. G., Heisler, M., Smith, D. M., Robinson, C. H., Forman, J. H., & Ubel, P. A.
(2009). Patient comprehension of emergency department care and instructions: Are patients aware of when they do not understand? *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, *53*(4), 454-461.

- Erie Shores Health Care. (2017). *Emergency department services*. Retrieved from: http://www.erieshoreshealthcare.ca/programs.php?id=75
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behaviour Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160.
- Ferreira, F., Andrade, J., Mesquita, A., Campello, G., Dias, C., & Granja, C. (2007). The emergency room analysis and evaluation of an organizational model. *Portuguese Journal of Cardiology: An Official Journal of the Portuguese Society of Cardiology*, 27(8), 889-900.
- Fishburn, P. C. (2013). *The foundations of expected utility* (Vol. 31). Dordrecht, NL: D Reidel Publish Company.
- Gill, J. M., Mainous III, A. G., & Nsereko, M. (2000). The effect of continuity of care on emergency department use. *Archives of Family Medicine*, 9(4), 333.
- Goldstein, A. B., Frosch, E., Davarya, S., & Leaf, P. J. (2007). Factors associated with a six-month return to emergency services among child and adolescent psychiatric patients. *Psychiatric Services*, 58(11), 1489-1492
- Goode, D., Melby, V., & Ryan, A. (2014). Management of patients with mental health needs: Debbie Goode and colleagues assess whether staff are prepared to offer person-centered care to all people who present to emergency departments. *Emergency Nurse*, 22(5), 32-37.
- Hackman, A. L., Goldberg, R. W., Brown, C. H., Fang, L. J., Dickerson, F. B.,
 Wohlheiter, K., & Dixon, L. (2006). Use of emergency department services for somatic reasons by people with serious mental illness. *Psychiatric services*, *57*(4),

- Han, B., & Wells, B. L. (2003). Inappropriate emergency department visits and use of the Health Care for the Homeless Program services by homeless adults in the northeastern United States. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 9(6), 530-537.
- Hoot, N. R., & Aronsky, D. (2008). Systematic review of emergency department crowding: Causes, effects, and solutions. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 52(2), 126-136.
- Hosmer, D.W., & Lemeshow, S. (2000). *Applied logistic regression* (2 ed.). New York: NY Wiley.
- Illingworth, P., & Chelvanayagam, S. (2007). Benefits of interprofessional education in health care. *British Journal of Nursing*, 16(2), 121-124.
- Innes, K., Morphet, J., O'Brien, A. P., & Munro, I. (2014). Caring for the mental illness patient in emergency departments an exploration of the issues from a healthcare provider perspective. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *23*(14), 2003-2011.
- Johnson, M., Myers, S., Wineholt, J., Pollack, M., & Kusmiesz, A.L. (2009). Patients who leave the emergency department without being seen. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, *35*(2), 105-108
- Kelly, M. P., & Barker, M. (2016). Why is changing health-related behaviour so difficult? *Public Health*, 136, 109-116.
- Kurdyak, P., Zaheer, J., Cheng, J., Rudoler, D., & Mulsant, B. H. (2017). Changes in characteristics and practice patterns of Ontario psychiatrists: Implications for access to psychiatrists. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62(1), 40-47.

- Lahey, P. (2009). Here's your hat, what's your hurry? When mental illness visits the ER. *Network, (25)*2, 5-8.
- Larkin, G. L., Claassen, C. A., Emond, J. A., Pelletier, A. J., & Camargo, C. A. (2005). Trends in US emergency department visits for mental health conditions, 1992 to 2001. *Psychiatric Services*, 56(6), 671-677.
- Latoo, J., Mistry, M., & Dunne, F. (2013). Physical morbidity and mortality in people with mental illness. *British Journal of Medical Practitioners*, *6*(3), 621-3.
- Ledoux, Y., & Minner, P. (2006). Occasional and frequent repeaters in a psychiatric emergency room. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41(2), 115 121.
- Leucht, S., Burkard, T., Henderson, J., Maj, M., & Sartorius, N. (2007). Physical illness and schizophrenia: A review of the literature. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *116*(5), 317-333.
- LoBiondo-Wood, G., & Haber, J. (2013). Nursing research in Canada: Methods, critical appraisal and utilization with study guide. Milton, ON: Elsevier Science
- Lustman, P. J., Anderson, R. J., Freedland, K. E., De Groot, M., Carney, R. M., & Clouse, R. E. (2000). Depression and poor glycemic control: A meta-analytic review of the literature. *Diabetes Care*, 23(7), 934-942.
- Maj, M. (2005). 'Psychiatric comorbidity': An artefact of current diagnostic systems. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 186(3), 182-184.
- Marynowski-Traczyk, D., & Broadbent, M. (2011). What are the experiences of emergency department nurses in caring for clients with a mental illness in the emergency department? *Australasian Emergency Nursing Journal*,14(3), 172

- Mayo Clinic. (2017). *Alcohol poisoning: Treatment*. Retrieved from: http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/alcohol-poisoning/diagnosistreatment/treatment/txc-20227934
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2013). *Making the case for investing in mental health in Canada*. Retrieved from:

http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/In vesting_in_Mental_Health_FINAL_Version_ENG.pdf

- Mehl-Madrona, L. E. (2008). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among users of rural emergency medical services. *Canadian Journal of Rural Medicine*, 13(1), 22 – 30.
- Merrick, E. L., Perloff, J., & Tompkins, C. P. (2010). Emergency department utilization patterns for Medicare beneficiaries with serious mental disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, 61(6), 628.
- Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (2007). Preventing and managing chronic disease: Ontario's Framework. Retrieved from:

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/cdpm/pdf/framework_full.pdf

- Misek, R. K., DeBarba, A. E., & Brill, A. (2015). Predictors of psychiatric boarding in the emergency department. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 16(1), 71.
- Morphet, J., Innes, K., Munro, I., O'Brien, A., Gaskin, C. J., Reed, F., & Kudinoff, T. (2012). Managing people with mental health presentations in emergency departments A service exploration of the issues surrounding responsiveness from a mental health care consumer and career perspective. *Australasian*

Emergency Nursing Journal, 15(3), 148-155.

- Mykletun, A., Bjerkeset, O., Dewey, M. (2007). Anxiety, depression and cause-specific mortality: The HUNT study. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 69, 323–331.
- National Coalition for the Homeless. (2009). *Homeless employment report*. Retrieved from: nationalhomeless.org/publications/homelessemploymentreport/
- Newton, A. S., Rosychuk, R. J., Dong, K., Curran, J., Slomp, M., & McGrath, P. J.
 (2012). Emergency health care use and follow-up among sociodemographic groups of children who visit emergency departments for mental health crises. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *184*(12), 665-674
- Newton, A. S., Ali, S., Johnson, D. W., Haines, C., Rosychuk, R. J., Keaschuk, R. A., & Klassen, T. P. (2010). Who comes back? Characteristics and predictors of return to emergency department services for pediatric mental health care. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 17(2), 177-186.
- Nossel, I. R., Calmes, C. A., Brown, C. H., Kreyenbuhl, J., Goldberg, R. W., Fang, L., & Dixon, L. B. (2010). Patterns of emergency department use for medical conditions among persons with serious mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*, 61(12), 1251-1254.
- Ontario Health Coalition. (2017). *Hospital overload: Backgrounder on Ontario's hospital bed shortage*. Retrieved from: http://www.ontariohealthcoalition.ca/wpcontent/uploads/backgrounder-on-hospital-bed-shortage-1-1.pdf
- Pasic, J., Russo, J., & Roy-Byrne, P. (2005). High utilizers of psychiatric emergency services. *Psychiatric Services*, 56(6), 678-684.
- Park, J. M., Park, L. T., Siefert, C. J., Abraham, M. E., Fry, C. R., & Silvert, M. S.

(2009). Factors associated with extended length of stay for patients presenting to an urban psychiatric emergency service: A case-control study. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services and Research*, *36*(3), 300-308.

- Parsell, C. (2010). "Homeless is what I am, not who I am": Insights from an inner-city Brisbane study. *Urban Policy and Research*, *28*(2), 181-194.
- Patra, J., Popova, S., Rehm, J., Bondy, S., Flint, R., & Giesbrecht, N. (2007). *Economic cost of chronic disease in Canada: 1995–2003*. The Ontario Chronic Disease
 Prevention Alliance and the Ontario Public Health Association.
- Plant, L. D., & White, J. H. (2013). Emergency room psychiatric services: A qualitative study of nurses' experiences. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *34*(4), 240-248.
- Pittsenbarger, Z. E., & Mannix, R. (2014). Trends in pediatric visits to the emergency department for psychiatric illnesses. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 21(1), 25 30.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2015). Report from the Canadian chronic disease surveillance system: Mental illness in Canada, 2015. Retrieved from: http://healthycanadians.gc.ca/publications/diseases-conditions-maladiesaffections/mental-illness-2015-maladies-mentales/alt/mental-illness-2015maladies-mentales-eng.pdf

Rowe, B. H., Bond, K., Ospina, M. B., Blitz, S., Afilalo, M., Campbell, S. G., & Schull, M. (2006). Frequency, determinants, and impact of overcrowding in emergency departments in Canada: A national survey of emergency department directors. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, *10*(4), 32-40.

Royal College of Psychiatrists. (2010). No health without public mental health: The case

for action. Retrieved from:

http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/Position%20Statement%204%20website.pdf

- Salinsky, E., & Loftis, C. (2007). Shrinking inpatient psychiatric capacity: Cause for celebration or concern? *National Health Policy Forum Issue Brief*, 823, 1-21.
- Smith, M. W., Stocks, C., & Santora, P. B. (2015). Hospital readmission rates and emergency department visits for mental health and substance abuse conditions. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 51(2), 190-197.

Statistics Canada. (2013a). Health profile December 2013. Retrieved from:

http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/health-sante/82-

228/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Tab=1&Geo1=PR&Code1=35&Geo2=PR&Code

2=01&Data=Rate&SearchText=Ontario&SearchType=Contains&SearchPR=01&

B1=All&Custom=&B2=All&B3=All&GeoLevel=PR&GeoCode=35

Statistics Canada. (2013b). Health profile December 2013. Retrieved from:

http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/health-sante/82

228/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Tab=1&Geo1=HR&Code1=3501&Geo2=PR&Co

de2=35&Data=Rate&SearchText=Ontario&SearchType=Contains&SearchPR=01

&B1=All&Custom=&B2=All&B3=All&GeoLevel=PR&GeoCode=35

Statistics Canada. (2013c). Health profile December 2013. Retrieved from:

http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/health-sante/82-

228/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Tab=1&Geo1=HR&Code1=3568&Geo2=PR&Co

de2=35&Data=Rate&SearchText=Ontario&SearchType=Contains&SearchPR=01

&B1=All&Custom=&B2=All&B3=All

Statistics Canada. (2016). Insights on Canadian society: Hidden homelessness in Canada. Retrieved from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-006x/2016001/article/14678-eng.htm

Sunday, C. (2016). *The role of theory in research*. Retrieved from: https://www.uwc.ac.za/Students/.../The%20role%20of%20theory%20in%20resear ch

- Tabachnick, B. G. & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using Multivariate Statistics* (5 ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon
- Tai, C. C., Lee, C. C., Shih, C. L., & Chen, S. C. (2007). Effects of ambient temperature on volume, specialty composition and triage levels of emergency department visits. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 24(9), 641-644.
- Uscher-Pines, L., Pines, J., Kellermann, A., Gillen, E., & Mehrotra, A. (2013). Deciding to visit the emergency department for non-urgent conditions: A systematic review of the literature. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, *19*(1), 47.
- Vandyk, A. D., Harrison, M. B., VanDenKerkhof, E. G., Graham, I. D., & Ross-White, A. (2013). Frequent emergency department use by individuals seeking mental healthcare: A systematic search and review. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 27(4), 171-178.
- Vandyk, A. D., VanDenKerkhof, E. G., Graham, I. D., & Harrison, M. B. (2014).
 Profiling frequent presenters to the emergency department for mental health complaints: Socio-demographic, clinical, and service use characteristics. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 28(6), 420-425.

Walsh, P. G., Currier, G. W., Shah, M. N., & Friedman, B. (2015). Older adults with

mental disorders: What factors distinguish those who present to emergency departments for mental health reasons from those who do not? *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *23*(11), 1162-1171.

- Wand, T. (2004). Mental health liaison nursing in the emergency department: Onsite expertise and enhanced coordination of care. *Australian, The Journal of Advanced Nursing, 22*(2), 25.
- Wand, T., White, K., Patching, J., Dixon, J., & Green, T. (2012). Outcomes from the evaluation of an emergency department-based mental health nurse practitioner outpatient service in Australia. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 24(3), 149-159.
- Weiss, A. P., Chang, G., Rauch, S. L., Smallwood, J. A., Schechter, M., Kosowsky, J.,
 & Orav, E. J. (2012). Patient and practice related determinants of emergency department length of stay for patients with psychiatric illness. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 60(2), 162-171.
- Welcome, M. O. (2011). The Nigerian health care system: Need for integrating adequate medical intelligence and surveillance systems. *Journal of Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences*, 3(4), 470.
- Wooden, M. D., Air, T. M., Schrader, G. D., Wieland, B., & Goldney, R. D. (2009).
 Frequent attenders with mental disorders at a general hospital emergency department. *Emergency Medicine Australasia*, 21(3), 191-195.
- World Health Organization (2013). *Premature death among people with severe mental disorders*. Retrieved from:

http://www.who.int/mental_health/management/info_sheet.pdf

- World Health Organization. (2016a). *Health topics: Mental Disorders*. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/topics/mental_disorders/en/
- World Health Organization. (2016b). World health report: Mental disorders affect one *in four people*. Retrieved from:

http://www.who.int/whr/2001/media_centre/press_release/en/

- World Health Organization. (2016c). *International Classification of Disease*. Retrieved from: http://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/practice/dsm/icd-10
- Young, A. S., Chinman, M. J., Cradock-O'Leary, J. A., Sullivan, G., Murata, D., Mintz, J., & Koegel, P. (2005). Characteristics of individuals with severe mental illness who use emergency services. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 41(2), 159-168.
- Zavala, S., & Shaffer, C. (2011). Do patients understand discharge instructions? *Journal* of Emergency Nursing, 37(2), 138-140.

APPENDIX A

Level of Triage	Time Guidelines	Description
I Resuscitation	Immediate	Conditions that are threats to life or limb (or imminent risk of deterioration) requiring immediate aggressive interventions.
II Emergent	15 minutes	Conditions that are a potential threat to life limb or function, requiring rapid medical intervention or delegated acts
III Urgent	30 minutes	Conditions that could potentially progress to a serious problem requiring emergency intervention. May be associated with significant discomfort or affecting ability to function at work or activities of daily living
IV Less Urgent	60 minutes	Conditions that are related to patient age, distress, or potential for deterioration or complications would benefit from intervention or reassurance within 1-2 hours
V Non Urgent	120 minutes	Conditions that may be acute but non- urgent as well as conditions which may be part of a chronic problem with or without evidence of deterioration

THE CANADIAN TRIAGE AND ACUITY SCALE

Adapted from the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians Implementation Guidelines (2016).

APPENDIX B

CMHA COMMUNITY RESOURCE LIST – 2017



CRISIS INTERVENTION

Windsor Regional Children's Centre519.257.52153901 Connaught AvenueCrisis Services	М	
Distress Centre of Windsor-Essex 519.256.5000 12:00 noon – 12:00 Midnight Crisis	M H	
Drouillard Place 519.253.1073, 519.253.4446 1102 Drouillard Road Mon-Fri 8:30am-4:30pm *Must live within agency boundaries	M (N	
Community Crisis Centre 519.973.4435 Hotel Dieu Grace Healthcare24 Hour Crisis Line1030 Ouellette Ave, Jeanne Mance Building, 1 st Floor	<u>c</u>	
ASSAULT / VIOLENCE		
Sexual Assault Crisis Centre519.253.31001770 Langlois Avenue24 Hour Crisis: 519.253.9667	T	
Hiatus House519.252.7781Emergency shelter and Crisis intervention for women and their children experiencing domestic violence.Toll Free 1.800.265.5142	м с <u>s</u>	
SOS Femmes Crisis Line1.877.336.2433Francophone women eligible24 Hour CrisisToronto, ON24 Hour Crisis	M 37 M	
EMERGENCY SHELTERS	C 29	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission519.973.5573664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573	C 29 R	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573Salvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473	C 29 R F	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573Salvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473Welcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595	C 29 R F W W	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573Salvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473Welcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595HOSPITALS WITH PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES	С 29 R F N W M С	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573Salvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473Welcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595HOSPITALS WITH PSYCHIATRIC SERVICESSVindsor Regional Hospital 1030 Ouellette Avenue	C 29 R F N S M C S H	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573Salvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473Welcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595HOSPITALS WITH PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES519.973.4444Windsor Regional Hospital 1030 Ouellette Avenue519.973.4444MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES519.973.4444	C 22 R F N M M C S H C 14	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573 519.253.7473 555 Church StreetSalvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473 519.971.7595 263 Bridge AvenueWelcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595 519.971.7595 519.973.4444 1030 Ouellette AvenueMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES Treatment, Support, Education519.973.4444	C 29 R F M M C S H C 14 C	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573 519.253.7473Salvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473 519.971.7595Welcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595 519.971.7595MOSPITALS WITH PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES Windsor Regional Hospital 1030 Ouellette Avenue519.973.4444MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES Treatment, Support, Education CMHA-WECB 1400 Windsor Avenue519.255.7440	C 29 R F N W M C S H C 14 C C	
EMERGENCY SHELTERSDowntown Mission 664 Victoria Avenue519.973.5573Salvation Army (men only) 355 Church Street519.253.7473Welcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595Welcome Centre (women only) 263 Bridge Avenue519.971.7595HOSPITALS WITH PSYCHIATRIC SERVICESWindsor Regional Hospital 1030 Ouellette Avenue519.973.4444MENTAL HEALTH SERVICESTreatment, Support, Education 1400 Windsor Avenue519.255.7440CMHA-WECB 1400 Windsor Avenue519.255.7440	C 29 R F N WMM C S H C 14 C 14 C C C	

2017 COMMUNITY RESOURCES

	00011020	
Mood/Anxiety Treatment Program Hotel Dieu Grace Healthcare, 1453 F	519.257.5125 Prince Road	
Mental Health Services Info Ontario	1.866.531.2600	
Wellness Program for Extended Psychosis 519.257.5111 Hotel Dieu Grace Healthcare, 1453 Prince Road		
MHRU County Team (Crisis/OPP) (Mental Health Response Unit)	519.723.4600	
COAST – Windsor Team	519.973.4409	
COUNSELLING		
Family Service Windsor 1770 Langlois Avenue (walk-in clinics days/times/locations) or <u>https://fswe.</u> c	519.966.5010 s available – call for <u>ca</u>	
Teen Health Centre (up to age 24)	519.253.8481	
Windsor Essex Comm. Health Centre	e 519.258.6002	
Counselling for Dep/Anxiety – CMHA	519-255-7440	
SOCIAL & SELF-SUPPORT		
Mental Health Connections 370 Erie Street East	519.256.4854	
Mood Disorders Self-Support Group	ТВА	
Can-Am Friendship Centre 2929 Howard Avenue	519.253.3243	
Recovery Inc. 519.326.3635 Cinc	dy 519.727.5916 Rose 519.324.0429 Carolyn	
FAMILY EDUCATION & SUPP	PORT	
NAMI Family to Family Education	on Program	
<u>WINDSOR</u> Mental Health Connections, 370 Erie Contact: Jean Laforge	Street East 519.256.4854	
SUICIDE PREVENTION AND HEALTH EDUCATION	MENTAL	
Canadian Mental Health Association, 1400 Windsor Ave. www.windsorese	WE 519.255.7440 ex.cmha.ca	
GENERAL INFORMATION		
Community Information and Referral	211	
ADDICTIONS		
Alcoholics Anonymous	519.256.9975	

Printed: September 2, 2017

(ADDICTIONS Cont'd)

Brentwood Recovery	519.253.2441	
Cocaine Anonymous	519.788.3889	
Concurrent Disorders Treatment Hotel Dieu Grace Healthcare, 145	519.257.5125 53 Prince Road	
Windsor Addiction Assessment &	Referral 519.257.5220	
DART	1.800.565.8603	
House of Sophrosyne (women on	aly) 519.252.2711	
Narcotics Anonymous	519.977.8063	
Salvation Army	519.253.7473	
S.T.A.G.E.S. Group, CMHA Concurrent Disorders Support Gr	519.255.7440 oup, 1400 Windsor Ave	
Withdrawal Management Centre	519.257.5225	
Women for Sobriety	519.256.1497	
MEDICAL		
City Centre Health Care, CMHA-WECB, 1400 Windsor Ave	519.971.0116 enue	
Windsor Essex Community Healt 3320 College Avenue	h Centre 519.258.6002	
OHIP 400 City Hall Square, Suite 205	519.973.1385	
Essex County Medical Society	519.256.4611	
LEGAL RESOURCES		
Community Legal Aid	519.253.7150	
Legal Assistance of Windsor	519.256.7831	
Windsor-Essex Bilingual Legal Cl	inic 519.253.3526	
YOUTH		
Bulimia Anorexia Nervosa Associ 1500 Ouellette Avenue, Suite 100	ation 519.969.2112	
Maryvale Adolescent/Family Serv 3640 Wells Street	vices 519.258.0484 *Ages 11-17	
Teen Health Centre, WECHC	519.253.8481	
LGBTIQ FRIENDLY SERVICES		
50+ Proud: Gay and Gray 440 Pelissier Street	519.973.4656	
Out on Campus University of Windsor	519.253.3000 ext. 4093 http://uwindsor.ca/ooc	

(LGBTIQ Cont'd)

519.977.6897			
Mike Cardinal Counselling 519.258.1069 3277 Sandwich Street (Group / individual counselling for Gay / Bisexual men)			
519.973.4656			
SAFE: A Gay-Straight Alliance. Professionals Advocating for the Needs of LGBTTIQ2S Children, Youth and Families in Windsor-Essex 519.253.8481 ext. 248			
519.973.0222 1.800.265.4858			
519.974.2220			
519.257.5105 Road			
519.257.5112 e Road			
519.254.1108			
519.255.5600 519.255.5200 519.946.9988			
519.254.1651			
1.800.277.9914			
519.258.2030			
519.254.6994			
519.776.4631			
519.254.4824			
519.254.1681			
226.221.8464			
519.256.5258			

Printed: September 2, 2017

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME:	Fabrice Immanuel Mowbray
PLACE OF BIRTH:	Barrie, Ontario, Canada
YEAR OF BIRTH:	1992
EDUCATION:	University of Windsor, Windsor, ON 2010 – 2014 BSc. (Nursing)
	University of Windsor, Windsor, ON 2015 – 2017 MSc. (Nursing)